Public Document Pack

A Meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE will be held at
the Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN on
WEDNESDAY 29 APRIL 2015 AT 7.00 PM

Andy Couldrick
Chief Executive
Published on 21 April 2015

This meeting will be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s
website.
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog
from this meeting. The use of these images or recordings is
not under the Council’s control.

Our Vision
A great place to live, an even better place to do business

Our Priorities

Improve educational attainment and focus on every child
achieving their potential

Invest in regenerating towns and villages, support social
and economic prosperity, whilst encouraging business
growth

Ensure strong sustainable communities that are vibrant and
supported by well designed development

Tackle traffic congestion in specific areas of the Borough
Improve the customer experience when accessing Council
services
The Underpinning Principles

Offer excellent value for your Council Tax
Provide affordable homes
Look after the vulnerable
Improve health, wellbeing and quality of life
Maintain and improve the waste collection, recycling and
fuel efficiency
Deliver quality in all that we do

MEMBERSHIP OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE
Councillors
Simon Weeks (Chairman)
Lindsay Ferris
Malcolm Richards

ITEM
NO.

WARD

Tim Holton (Vice-Chairman)
John Kaiser
Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey

Chris Bowring
Bob Pitts
Chris Singleton

SUBJECT

PAGE
NO.

128.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence.

129.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS
To confirm the Minutes of the Meetings of the
Committee held on: 25 March 2015 – Extraordinary
meeting, and 1 April 2015.

130.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
To receive any declaration of interest.

131.

APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND
WITHDRAWN ITEMS
To consider any recommendations to defer
applications from the schedule and to note any
applications that may have been withdrawn.

132.

APPLICATION NO: RM/2014 2561 - LAND NORTH
OF CUTBUSH LANE, SHINFIELD
Recommendation: Conditional Approval

19 - 50

133.

APPLICATION NO: F/2014/2662 - GRAZELEY
PRIMARY SCHOOL, MEREOAK LANE, GRAZELEY
Recommendation: Conditional Approval

51 - 68

134.

APPLICATION NO: F/2014/2611 - GROVELANDS
AVENUE WORKSHOPS, GROVELANDS PARK,
WINNERSH
Recommendation: Conditional Approval

69 - 88

135.

APPLICATION NO: F/2015/0073 - LAND ADJACENT
TO 1 ANSON WALK, SHINFIELD
Recommendation: Conditional Approval subject to
Legal Agreement

89 - 104

136.

APPLICATION NO: F/2014/2784 - GREEN ISLE,
WARGRAVE ROAD, REMENHAM
Recommendation: Conditional Approval

105 - 138

137.

QUARTERLY ENFORCEMENT MONITORING
REPORT

139 - 140

5 - 18

To receive the quarterly enforcement monitoring
report.
138.

PRE COMMITTEE SITE VISITS
To consider any recommendations from the Head of
Development Management to hold pre-committee site
visits, set out in Members’ Update

139.

ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN
DECIDES ARE URGENT
A Supplementary Agenda will be issued by the Chief
Executive if there are any other items to consider
under this heading

GLOSSARY OF TERMS
The following abbreviations were used in the above Index and in reports.
C/A
CAC
R
LB
S106
F
MU
RM
VAR
PS
Category

Conditional Approval (grant planning permission)
Conservation Area Consent
Refuse (planning permission)
(application for) Listed Building Consent
Section 106 legal agreement between Council and applicant in accordance
with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(application for) Full Planning Permission
Members’ Update circulated at the meeting
Reserved Matters not approved when Outline Permission previously granted
Variation of a condition/conditions attached to a previous approval
Performance Statistic Code for the Planning Application

Tricia Harcourt
Tel
Email
Postal Address

CONTACT OFFICER
Senior Democratic Services Officer
0118 974 6091
tricia.harcourt@wokingham.gov.uk
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN

Agenda Item 129.
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE
PLANNING COMMITTEE
HELD ON 25 MARCH 2015 FROM 7.00 PM TO 10.30 PM
Committee Members Present
Councillors: Simon Weeks (Chairman), Tim Holton (Vice-Chairman), Chris Bowring,
Lindsay Ferris, John Kaiser, Bob Pitts, Malcolm Richards, Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey and
Chris Singleton
Other Councillors Present
Councillors: Ian Pittock and Gary Cowan
Officers Present
Susan Coulter, Senior Democratic Services officer
Chris Easton, Service Manager, Highways Development Management
Mark Cupit, Head of SDL Delivery
Haroon Khan, SDL Delivery Lawyer
Mary Severin, Borough Solicitor (and DMO)
Case Officers Present
Neale Hall
Matt Melville
108. APOLOGIES
There were no apologies received.
109. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.
110. MEMBERS' UPDATE
There are a number of references to the Members' Update within these minutes. The
Members' Update was circulated to all present prior to the meeting (copy attached).
111.

APPLICATION NO: O/2014/2280 - ARBORFIELD GARRISON AND ADJOINING
LAND
PROPOSAL: OUTLINE PERMISSION FOR: Demolition of buildings and phased
redevelopment of Arborfield Garrison and adjoining land for: Up to 2,000 new dwellings
(including up to 80 units of extra care housing). District centre comprising a foodstore
up to 4,000 sqm gross with up to a further 3,500 sqm (gross) floor space within Classes
A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, B1, D1 and D2 (with residential above - Class C3)), and transport
interchange, village square, car parking, servicing and drop off area. Up to a further
1,500 sqm (gross) floor space within Classes D1 and D2. Neighbourhood centre to
provide up to 300 sqm (gross) floor space within Classes A1, A2, A3, A4, A5, B1, D1
and D2, with parking/servicing area. Secondary school for up to 1,500 pupils (Class
D1) including sports pitches, flood-lit all-weather pitch, and indoor swimming pool and
parking areas. Up to three-form primary school (Class D1) with sports pitch and parking
areas. Associated phased provision of: car parking; public open space including sports
pitches, informal/incidental open space, children's play areas including multi-use games
area (MUGA), skate park, community gardens/allotments; landscaping/buffer areas;
boundary treatments; new roads, footpaths, cycleways and bridleways; sustainable
urban drainage systems, including flood alleviation works at Arborfield Garrison and
adjoining land

5

PART 2 - FULL PERMISSION FOR phased development of: Creation of two new areas of
Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANGS) (In the north-eastern part of the
application site ("Northern SANGS") and at West Court ("West Court SANGS") including
car parking areas, path/walkways, fencing and associated landscaping; re-use of existing
MoD gymnasium for sports/community uses/centre (Classes D1/D2; new roundabout
junction to A327 Reading Road; junction improvements to Langley Common Road, Baird
Road and Biggs Lane; junction improvements and new access at Biggs Lane/Princess
Marina Drive; re-use and improvements to existing site accesses from Biggs Lane.
Applicant: Secretary of State for Defence and Crest Nicholson Operations Limited
(Arborfield Garrison Landowners’ Consortium).
The Committee considered a report about this application set out on Agenda pages 5 to
146.
The Committee was advised of the policy background, the matters for consideration and
the application’s progress. There had been 220 objections from residents and the
transport assessment and the master plan had been amended as a result.
The Members’ Update included details of:








Amendments to conditions 1, 2, 4 to 7, 9, 14,17, 18, 39, 40, 63, 66, 67, 69, were
also recommended;
The removal of condition 47, as this had been merged with condition 40;
Additional conditions relating to the time limit for implementation of matters detailed
in full, the density in the District Centre, Highways matters replacement of facilities,
the provision of replacement grass pitches, facility design and floodlighting.
Additional informatives relating to the Technical Design Guidance and a
requirement for a Natural England Development Licence were recommended;
A letter received from Reading University asking for there to be a contribution from
this application to the Eastern Shinfield Relief Road; and the impact upon Reading;
WBC’s position was that the impact of the Arborfield SDL is mitigated by the S106
package;
Reading University had also suggested that there should be a trigger for the
Arborfield Cross Relief Road; WBC’s position was that there are triggers in the
S106 for contributions and WBC are committed to delivery of the road.

Ken Lane, representing Barkham Parish Council, spoke to the item.
Lauraine Newcombe and Steve Bromley representing Finchampstead Parish Council
spoke in support of the application.
Graham Dexter, Phiala Mehring, representing Barkham local residents, Nicola Greenwood
and Philip Todd, who was substituting for Mr Slater, representing Finchampstead South
local residents, spoke objecting to the application.
Hugo Reeve, representing the applicant, spoke in support of the application.
Councillor Gary Cowan, Ward Member for Arborfield spoke in support of the application.

6

Councillor Ian Pittock, Ward Member for Finchampstead South, spoke in support of the
application.

RESOLVED: That application O/2014/2280 be approved, subject to:
1) Completion of a S106 Legal Agreement, prior to 6 April 2015, as set out on Agenda
pages 8 and 9;
2) The conditions set out on Agenda pages 8 to 44, with conditions 1, 2, 4 to 7, 9, 14, 17,
18, 39, 40, 63, 66, 67, 69, amended as set out on pages 1 to 20 of the Members’
Update, and the removal of condition 47, as this had been merged with condition 40.
3) Additional conditions, as set out in the Members’ Update relating to relating to the time
limit for implementation of matters detailed in full, the density in the District Centre,
Highways matters replacement of facilities, the provision of replacement grass pitches,
facility design and floodlighting, were also included. Additional informatives relating to
the Technical Design Guidance and a requirement for a Natural England Development
Licence were recommended.
112.

APPLICATION NO: F/2015/0001 - LAND AT ARBORFIELD GARRISON, BIGGS
LANE, ARBORFIELD (SECONDARY SCHOOL)
Proposal: Construction of a 1500 place secondary school with
associated sports facilities, parking provision and access roads within SDL site on Land at
Arborfield Garrison, Biggs Lane, Arborfield RG2
Applicant: Wokingham Borough Council.
The Committee considered a report about this application, set out on Agenda pages 147 to
201.
The Committee was advised that the Members’ Update included details of:
 clarification about the school building having a sprinkler system and fire hydrants
available, prior to the completion of construction of phase 1;
 The applicant had also confirmed that it anticipated that the heavy ground works,
super structure and façade to the North elevation of phase 2 wing would be
completed within phase 1. This would considerably reduce the risk of any noise,
dust and fumes from plant or equipment in that area and would be fully detailed
within the Contractor’s’ proposals and developed CEMP;
 Following public representation, the Local Planning Authority had sought
clarification from the applicant on the design of the building in respect of ventilation,
thermal comfort and acoustics. These were all building regulations matters;
 Clarification on the principles of the technical aspects of the building design had
also been sought.
Pam Stubbs, representing Barkham Parish Council, spoke in support of the application.
Brian Grady, representing the applicant and Lloyd Watkins, representing the Parents’
Reference Group spoke in support of the application.

7

Councillor Ian Pittock, Deputy Executive Member for Children’s Services, spoke in support
of the application.
RESOLVED: That application F/2014/0001 be approved, subject to the conditions set out
on Agenda pages 148 to 161.

8

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE
PLANNING COMMITTEE
HELD ON 1 APRIL 2015 FROM 6.00 PM TO 10.30 PM
Committee Members Present
Councillors: Simon Weeks (Chairman), Tim Holton (Vice-Chairman), Chris Bowring,
Lindsay Ferris, Bob Pitts, Malcolm Richards, Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey and
Chris Singleton
Other Councillors Present
Councillors: Gary Cowan, Kate Haines and Stuart Munro
Officers Present
Tricia Harcourt, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Chris Easton, Service Manager Highway Development
Clare Lawrence, Head of Development Management and Regulatory Services
Mary Severin, Borough Solicitor
Case Officers Present
Ashley Smith, Planning Officer
David Wetherill, Planning Officer
Graham Vaughan, Planning Officer
Martin Wheeler, WSP (The Council’s drainage consultant)
108. APOLOGIES
An apology for absence was received from John Kaiser.
109. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS
The Minutes of the Extraordinary meeting of the Committee held on
25 February 2015 and the meeting of the Committee held on 4 March 2014 were
confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.
110. MEMBERS' UPDATE
There are a number of references to the Members’ Update within these minutes. The
Members’ Update and three Appendices were circulated to all present prior to the meeting.
A copy is attached.
111. DECLARATION OF INTEREST
Tim Holton declared a personal interest in Item 120 application F/2014/2105 residential
development on former Allied Bakeries site, Viscount Way, Woodley, on the grounds that
owner of one of the commercial units adjoining the site to the north is the landlord of the
premises where he works. He indicated that he would withdraw from the meeting for the
discussion and decision making on this application.
112. APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND WITHDRAWN ITEMS
No applications had been recommended for deferral or withdrawal.
113.

APPLICATION NO: F/2014/2015 - FORMER ALLIED BAKERIES SITE,
VISCOUNT WAY, WOODLEY
Proposal: Erection of 68 dwellings with associated road, parking, amenity space,
landscaping and creation of new access onto Loddon Bridge Road.

9

Applicant: Bloor Homes Ltd and ABF Grain Products Ltd

Having declared an interest in this application, Councillor Tim Holton left the room and was
not present during the discussion or decision making.
The Committee considered the addendum report on one aspect of this application set out
on Agenda pages 17 to 20. A copy of the original report considered at the meeting on 4
March 2015 was attached at Agenda pages 21 to 84. This application had been deferred
so that information and guidance could be obtained to allow Members to understand the
impact of any potential complaints from occupiers of the development site on the granting
of any future Goods Vehicle Operating Licences to the haulage companies currently
operating on the adjoining site.
The Committee was advised that similar concerns had been raised by the third haulage
business on the adjoining site. Also that further reports had been submitted by the
applicant, which had been reviewed by the Council’s Environmental Health Officer, details
of which were set out in the Members’ Update. The Committee was also advised that a
variation to the original S106 Legal Agreement had been agreed such that prospective
purchasers and tenants will be made aware of the proximity of the haulage yard and the
on-site mitigation measures by information being placed on deeds and plots sale
contracts.
A letter from a barrister acting on behalf of Jeff Cahill, the owner of Luckings Logistics Ltd,
giving information about how the Traffic Commissioners make their decisions when
reviewing Goods Vehicle Operating Licences, had been circulated.
It was noted that Members visited the site on 27 February 2015 to assess the impact on
the character of the area, the relationship with adjacent; land uses, highway impact and
highway safety of the new access.
Members were referred to the appeal decision on the application at the Linpac site in
Woodley where there was a similar situation of proposed housing development adjacent to
an industrial site. The Inspector in allowing the appeal had not attached great weight to
the possibility of future objections.
Officers indicated that the applicant had demonstrated that in light of the proposed
mitigation measures, noise would not be significant. This had been acknowledged by the
Environmental Health Officer, who agreed with this conclusion.
RESOLVED: That application F/2014/2105 be approved subject to:
1) the completion of a S106 Legal Agreement, as set out on Agenda page 53, with recent
amendments;
2) the conditions set out on Agenda pages 22 to 33, with condition 11 amended to restrict
construction work to 8.00 to 18.00 on Monday to Friday.
Councillor Holton returned to the meeting.
114.

APPLICATION NO: F/2014/2633 - SHINFIELD C OF E JUNIOR SCHOOL,
CHESTNUT CRESCENT, SHINFIELD

10

Proposal: Erection of additional 860sqm of flooorspace to include 6 new classrooms,
SEN/group room, improved library facilities and studio hall. Also the change of use of
8858sqm of agricultural land to non -residential institution for use by the school with
parking and additional features.
Applicant: Wokingham Borough Council
The Committee considered a report about this application, set out on Agenda pages 85 to
109.
The Committee was advised that a formal response had not yet been received from the
Environment Agency in relation to its holding objection on ecological grounds, but it had
been indicated that no objection would be made.
It was noted, and that although mention was made of parking problems in the area,
existing problems could not be solved by this application; and that there had been no
objections from residents.
RESOLVED: That the Head of Development Management and Regulatory Services be
authorised to approve application F/2014/2633 subject to the Environment Agency’s
ecological holding reason being satisfactorily overcome and there being no further
objection raised; and to the conditions set out on Agenda pages 86 to 90.
115.

APPLICATION NO: F/2014/0940 - WILLOW TREE WORKS, SWALLOWFIELD
STREET, SWALLOWFIELD
Proposal: Redevelopment of the site to provide 38 dwellings including affordable
housing, hard and soft landscaping, open space, parking provision and associated works.
Applicant: Bellway Homes Thames Valley Limited
The Committee considered a report about this application set out on Agenda pages 111 to
157.
The Committee was advised that the Members’ Update, and Appendix 1 included details
of:
 Deletion of conditions 20 and 21;
 Recommended additional highway condition;
 Recommended additional informatives
 Additional comments and responses about flood risk assessments/modelling from the
Swallowfield Flood Resilience Group; the Councils’ Drainage consultants, WSP; the
Environment Agency; Bellway Homes, Swallowfield Parish Council; and Thames
Water;
 Clarification on the affordable housing contributions;
John Anderson, representing Swallowfield Parish Council, spoke raising concerns about
the application.
Lee Atkins, from the Swallowfield Flood Resilience Group spoke objecting to the
application, specifically on flood risk grounds.
James McConnell and Ryan Saul representing the applicant spoke in support of the
application.

11

Stuart Munro, Local Ward Member, spoke supporting local concerns about the application.
It was noted that Members had undertaken a site visit on 5 December 2014 to assess the
impact on the character of the area.
In response to questions, it was confirmed that the proposed provision of formal dedicated
visitor/unallocated parking was sufficient, as the principal road way is wide enough to
accommodate some on-street parking, and many of the private houses could
accommodate 3 cars on their driveways.
Concerns were raised about the number of dwellings proposed on the site which had been
allocated for housing development for up to 25 dwellings, but 38 were proposed. Officers
indicated that although the site had been identified as a ‘Limited Development Location’,
where sites should generally not exceed 25 dwellings, no specific maximum number of
dwellings had been given for this site. It is the Officers’ opinion that the development of
this brown field site with additional dwellings will not cause significant harm. The Borough
Design Guide standards will be met and the development is acceptable in character terms.
The majority of the local objections were in relation to drainage and flooding issues.
Copies of recent correspondence and responses from WSP, the Council’s Drainage
consultants, had been circulated. Despite the significant representations in respect of
flood risk from the resident’s group, supported by a technical expert, it was reported that
WSP Officers had been party to meetings and further information, and had been able to
run a greater number of in depth model runs to test drainage solutions. WSP is satisfied
that no objection on drainage and flood risk grounds can be raised. Officers indicated that
as the advice received from Thames Water was that any issues that potentially could arise
as a result of the development would be dealt with, and can be controlled by conditions,
there was nothing to substantiate refusal on drainage grounds.
RESOLVED: That application F/2014/0940 be approved subject to:
1) the completion of a Legal Agreement, as set out on Agenda pages 144 and 145 by 5
April 2015;
2) the conditions as set out on Agenda pages 113 to 122, with conditions 20 and 21
deleted and additional highways conditions and informative and. set out in the
Members’ Update
116.

APPLICATION NO: F/2014/2119 - FORMER BEARWOOD GOLF COURSE,
MOLE ROAD, SINDLESHAM (BEARWOOD PARK)
Proposal: Redevelopment of Former Bearwood Golf Course to provide a new football
training ground and academy facility, comprising of 3 full size team pitches, 7 other pitches
for use by various under 18 age groups and a goal keeping practice areas. A single storey
extension and conversion of existing golf course clubhouse into security gatehouse and
visitors café; new maintenance shed and maintenance store. Single storey changing block
and medical suite. Refurbishment of West Lodge for junior academy trialists;
refurbishment of apple store; retention and refurbishment of riding stables offices/stores to
academy offices; new single storey academy building to provide changing rooms, medical
suite, classrooms, player recreation and gymnasium area. Refurbishment of Mole Lodge
to provide accommodation for senior academy trialists; new two storey first team building;
single storey headquarters building. The refurbishment/rebuilding of existing housing and
farm/industrial buildings to provide 26 residential units (net increase of 18 residential units)

12

with associated parking, landscaping and access. Demolition of ancillary buildings, plus
garden wall to be made good and associated works relating to Bearwood Lake dam.
Applicant: Reading Football Club
The Committee considered report about this application set out on Agenda pages 159 to
225.
The Committee was advised that as agreement on the S106 Legal Agreement would not
be reached by 2 April, it is Recommendation B set out on Agenda page 160 that will be
considered; and that the Members’ Update included details of:
 The height of the HQ building;
 The consultation response and recommended condition from the Environment Agency;
 Recommended additional condition re use of helicopters;
 Recommended amendments to conditions 3, 4, 46;
 Clarification of comments from the Mid and West Berkshire Local Access Forum;
 Comments from the People’s Trust for Endangered Species
Liz Connolly, Jan Heard and Michael Heard, local residents, all spoke to raise the issue of
the need for a safe crossing of the B3030 at the edge of the site.
Ian Tant, agent and Nigel Howe, Chief Executive of Reading Football Club, both spoke in
support of the application.
Gary Cowan, Local Ward Member, spoke generally in support of the application but raised
some concerns.
It was noted that Members had visited the site on 27 March 2015 to assess the impact on
the character of the area/countryside and relationships with adjacent land users and to
view the heritage assets.
Local concerns had been expressed about the speed of traffic on Mole Road adjacent to
the site, and the effect any increase in traffic movements would have on the safety of the
highway, particularly at the intersection with the byway. Officers indicated that speed limits
on Mole Road and surrounding roads was not part of the application but could be looked at
if requested, and that a footpath has been included to run inside the hedge along Mole
Road from the residential properties to link with the public network. Officers had assessed
the level of traffic movements at the current training ground and concluded that the traffic
movements will not be high when compared to the golf course use.
In relation to the suggested improvements to crossing at the Mole Road/byway junction,
the applicant indicated that if there was land available in the ownership of the Club, it could
be made available to the Council at no charge to facilitate future crossing.
Members gave their support to the suggested review of the speed limit in Mole Road and
to suggested safety improvements at the intersection of Mole Road and the byway. It was
requested by Members that this be raised with the Head of Highways and Transport.
Officers confirmed that the floodlighting of the practice pitches was screened from the
road, and times of use will be controlled, so neighbouring residential properties should not
be affected.

13

One Member expressed concern about the development of a large amount of commercial
floor space in the countryside, and that the site would not be open for community use.
RESOLVED: That application F/2014/2119 be approved subject to:
1) the completion of a S106 Legal Agreement by the end of 2 April 2015 securing the
CLEMP and Employment Skills Plan;
2) CIL liability notice;
3) referral to the NPCU;
4) the conditions set out on Agenda pages 160 to 176.
117.

APPLICATION NO: F/2014/2353 - LAND TO REAR OF 58 HURST ROAD,
TWYFORD
Proposal: Erection of 12 dwellings (including 4 affordable dwellings) with access, parking,
open space and landscaping.
Applicant: Mr S Hicks
The Committee considered a report about this application set out on Agenda pages 227 to
273.
The Committee was advised that S106 Legal Agreement had been signed on 20 March
2015, so this date should be added to Informative 2 on Agenda page 234; and that the
Members’ Update and Appendix 2 included details of:
 Clarification from the Highways Officer about the carriageway width in Hurst Road;
 Clarification that the affordable housing provision exceeds the policy requirement;
 Site levels in relation to historic flood level and maps;
 Additional letters of objection, with Officers’ responses.
The following correction to the report was noted:
 Agenda page 244 – in paragraph 22 reference to ‘MDD submission policy CC09’
should read ‘MDD policy CC09’ as the MDD is a fully adopted document in the
Development Plan.
It was noted that Members had visited the site on 27 March 2015 to assess the impact on
the character of the area, neighbouring properties and potential drainage issues.
Rob Yeadon, representing himself and other local residents, spoke objecting to the
application.
Jim Bailey, representing the applicant, spoke in support of the application.
Dee Tomlin, a Local Ward Member, spoke objecting to the application.
The main concern locally was in relation to the potential for flooding on the site and the
impact that building on the site would have on drainage and flooding at adjacent properties
along Hurst Road. There seemed to be confusion about which flood zones, the
development site had been designated by the Environment Agency. Copies of recent
correspondence, indicating that the majority of the site was within Flood Zone 2 submitted

14

by local residents including emails that they had with the Environment Agency were
included in the Appendix 2 to the Members’ Update.
However, the Case Officer had received information from the Environment Agency (EA),
based on modelling, flood risk assessments and land surveys, which concluded that
majority of the site is in Flood Zone 1, which is not reflected in the EA’s general/indicative
Flood Map. This had been confirmed by EA in an email included in the Members’ Update
Members commented that that site was wet/boggy when they visited the site, and
concerns were expressed that the site was not suitable for housing development, and did
not fulfil the requirements of the new Local Flood Risk Strategy. Residents had given
details of incidents of flooding. Officers confirmed that a Flood Risk Assessment had been
undertaken when the site had been allocated as suitable for residential development in the
MDD (Managing Development Delivery) plan document in 2013.
The Officer from WSP, the Council’s drainage consultant, confirmed that the EA’s general
Flood Map is an approximate map, but the detailed site specific technical information using
recent modelling to support the application, indicates that the majority of the site is in Flood
Zone 1 with a only a small section in Flood Zone 2; and that the site is above the 1000
flood level. He said that building is allowed on land in Flood Zone 2. Although concerns
had been expressed about run-off/surface water drainage also having an effect on the site,
the WSP Officer indicated that the site had been reassessed as preparation for the site
drainage strategy. Engineering solutions are proposed to make the drainage better on the
site.
Officers clarified that irrespective of the site designation in the indicative EA maps, the
application had demonstrated that the proposed development was acceptable in flood risk
terms, which was supported by WSP. Subject to conditions, the proposal is acceptable on
flood risk grounds.
A proposal to refuse the application on the grounds of surface/fluvial drainage issues and
flooding concerns; not fulfilling the requirements of the Local Flood Risk Strategy; and the
contradictory information from the Environment Agency, was not approved when put to the
vote.
RESOLVED: That application F/2014/2353 be approved, subject to the provisions of the
Legal Agreement signed on 20 March 2015, as set out on Agenda page 247, and to the
conditions set out on Agenda pages 228 to 236.
118. APPLICATION NO: F/2015/0055 - 29 COPSE MEAD, WOODLEY
Proposal: Erection of part two storey, part single storey rear extension; single storey side
extension on west elevation; change of roof form from twin rear gable to crown roof
design; raising of roof to create habitable accommodation in roof space and two storey
front gable extension.
Demolition of existing detached garage, removal of existing chimneys and changes to
existing fenestration.
Applicant: Mr R Chand
The Committee considered a report about this application set out on Agenda pages 275 to
289.

15

The Committee was advised that the Members’ Update and Appendix 3 included
details/copies of:
 Additional photographs showing the relationship of no. 29 to the neighbouring
properties at 27 and 31 Copse Mead;
 Elevation plans showing the proposed scheme overlaid on the existing and the
refused scheme overlaid on the current proposal;
 A copy of the decision notice and Inspector’s report relating to the previous application
which was refused and dismissed at appeal.
Tom Barker, representing Woodley Town Council, spoke objecting to the application;
Eddie Cheng, neighbour at no.31 and Nick Wade, representing his parents who are
resident at no.27, both spoke objecting to the application.
Kate Haines, a Local Ward Member, spoke in support of the Town Council and
neighbours’ objections.
Members were reminded that this application was for a similar development to one which
had been refused, but that the scale and bulk of some of the proposed extensions had
been reduced to overcome the reasons for refusal.
It was noted that Members had visited the site in September 2014, to assess the impact on
neighbours, when the previous application was been considered.
However concerns were raised that this new application had not significantly reduced the
impact on the neighbour at no.27 Copse Mead. Officers indicated that the side extension
adjacent to no.27 had now been reduced to single storey, with the 7m gap at first floor
level maintained; and the two storey element of the rear extension had been reduced in
length from 4m to 3m.
It was suggested that in light of the scale of the proposed extensions, if the application was
approved, any permitted development rights that remained on this property be removed.
A proposal to refuse the application on the grounds of the mass and bulk of the proposed
extension being harmful and having an un-neighbourly impact on the residents of no.27
Copse Mead, was not approved when put to the vote.
RESOLVED: That application F/2015/0055 be approved subject to the conditions set out
on Agenda pages 275 and 276, with the addition of a condition to remove remaining
Permitted Development Rights.
119. PRE COMMITTEE SITE VISITS
The Head of Development Management and Regulatory Services recommended that preCommittee site visits be undertaken in respect of the following application:
 F/2015/0073 – Land adjacent to 1 Anson Walk, Shinfield, for the erection of 2 x one
bed and 2 x one bed flats with associated parking and landscaping. The site visit
would enable the Members to assess the impact on the character of the area.
RESOLVED: That pre-Committee site visits be undertaken on
Friday 24 April 2015 in respect of the following application:

16

F/2015/0073 – Land adjacent to 1 Anson Walk, Shinfield, for the erection of 2 x one bed
and 2 x one bed flats with associated parking and landscaping, to assess the impact on
the character of the area.
Site visits agreed at the 4 February and 4 March meetings in respect of:
F/2014/2784 Green Isle, Wargrave Road, Remenham
F/2014/1561 – Land west of Old Wokingham Road (Pinewood), Crowthorne,
RM/2014/2561 – Land to the north of Cutbush Lane, Shinfield
which were not carried out, will now be undertaken on 24 April 2015.

17

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 132.
Development
Management
Ref No
RM/2014/2561

Applicant
Location

No weeks on
day of
committee
Ext

Parish

Ward

Listed by:

Shinfield

Shinfield South

N/A Major
Development

Bellway Homes Thames Valley Limited
Land north of Cutbush Lane, Shinfield

Postcode RG2 9AL

Proposal

Reserved Matters application pursuant to Outline Planning Consent
O/2013/0101 for a residential development comprising up to 126
dwellings public open space, children’s play areas, accesses to Cutbush
Lane and the Shinfield Eastern Relief Road, Landscaping, Ecological
Buffer Zone, ground modelling, sustainable drainage and associated
infrastructure.
Type
Reserved Matters
PS Category 7
Officer
Christopher Howard
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 29/04/15
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
This application relates to land to the north of Cutbush Lane within the designated
South of the M4 Strategic Development Location (SDL). Outline planning consent for
the site was granted under planning application O/2013/0101 which established the
principle of access to the site together with development parameters.
This current application is a reserved matters application for 126 dwellings. The
purpose of this application is to provide further detail in respect of the layout scale, and
the appearance of the buildings and landscaping.
The application follows several other planning consents for the South of the M4 SDL
and the significant majority of the housing allocation and associated infrastructure
required by the Core Strategy within the SDL has now been approved. Outline consent
has been granted on appeal for 1,200 residential units and 150 extra care units at
Shinfield West together with a primary school, local centre, public open space sports
pavilion, suitable alternative natural greenspace (SANG) and access and landscaping.
In addition outline planning has been approved for 900 residential units, a primary
school, public open space and suitable alternative natural greenspace at Spencers
Wood and Three Mile Cross. Both applications help to secure the delivery of the
required infrastructure within the SDL which includes sports pitches, open space,
education facilities and a new public transport service.
Full planning permission has also been granted for the Loddon SANG which has now
been implemented. In addition, the Eastern Relief Road has also been approved. Full
forward funding for the Eastern Relief Road has been secured through the Homes and
Communities Agency (HCA), with work expected to commence in spring 2015.
There is further planning history for the SDL provided below.

19

The overarching vision of the SDL is to provide a co-ordinated approach to the delivery
of infrastructure and services ensuring that developments are of a high quality and are
sustainable. This includes the provision of schools, community facilities, good quality
open space and appropriate local transport and links.
The outline application for Cutbush Lane was supported by an Infrastructure Delivery
Plan (IDP) which established how the necessary infrastructure could be delivered. A
S106 legal agreement secured the proportion of infrastructure attributable to the
development at Cutbush Lane and triggers for its delivery.
The principle of development in this location has been established through its allocation
by policy CP19 of the Core Strategy and through the Spatial Framework Plan within the
South of the M4 Supplementary Planning Document together with the outline planning
permission.
The application is before the Planning Committee as it is a major development that is
recommended for approval. It is considered that the development would be a
sustainable urban extension to the existing settlement whereby residents would have
good access to services and facilities. The development would not have a significant
detrimental impact on the character of the area or on existing residents.
The proposal would provide for an adequate level of amenity for the future occupants of
the dwellings together with an acceptable impact on ecology, traffic, highway safety and
flood risk in addition to contributing to the delivery of infrastructure provided jointly by
the wider SDL such as the Eastern Relief Road. In addition it would also assist in the
delivery of housing numbers and assist the council in maintaining a 5 year housing
supply.
In design terms, the proposal meets all the council’s standards and in particular internal
space, garden depths and parking. The proposals are considered to be acceptable and
therefore it is recommended that Reserved Matters are approved subject to conditions
outlined below

PLANNING STATUS
 Strategic Development Location (SDL) as identified on the Core Strategy
 South of the M4 Strategic Development Location SPD
 Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions SPD
 Within 7km of the Special Protection Area (SPA)
 Mineral consultation zone
 Badger sett consultation zone
 Ancient Woodland at north of site
 North Eastern boundary of site adjacent to proposed Eastern Relief Road
 Listed Buildings – Lane End Farmhouse (Grade II) Shinfield Road, Badger Farm
(Cutbush Manor) and Barn Adjoining Badger Farm (both Grade 2), Cutbush Lane.
 Nuclear Consultation Zone (HSE to be consulted on schemes of 200 dwellings or
more)

RECOMMENDATION

20

APPROVE RESERVED MATTERS subject to the following conditions:
1) Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to affect or vary the conditions
imposed by planning permission O/2013/0101, dated 24 December 2013 which
conditions shall remain in full force and effect save in so far as they are expressly
affected or varied by this permission.
2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans:
Plan numbers being finalised to be provided on members update
Reason: to ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
application form and associated details hereby approved.
3) The development shall be constructed in accordance with the details outlined
within the submitted Energy Strategy including achieving a minimum reduction in
carbon / energy saving of at least 11.39% and shall achieve at least Code Level
3 of the Code for Sustainable Homes.
Reason: In the interests of promoting sustainable forms of development and to
meet the terms of the application. Relevant Policies: NPPF, Core Strategy policy
CP1 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC04
4) No works which include the creation of trenches or culverts or the presence of
pipes shall commence until measures to protect badgers from being trapped in
open excavations and / or pipe and culverts are submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The measures may include; a) creation of
sloping escape ramps for badgers, which may be achieved by edge profiling of
trenches / excavations or by using planks placed into them at the end of each
working day and b) open pipework greater than 150mm outside diameter being
blanked off at the end of each working day.
Reason: to ensure appropriate mitigation of the impact upon protected species
during construction and in the long term, in accordance with NPPF, Core
Strategy Policy CP7.
5) Prior to commencement of development, details of the proposed retaining walls
within the site including heights and design shall first be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be
carried out in strict accordance with the approved details unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory form of development relative to
surrounding buildings and landscape. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies
CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy TB21.
6) Before the residential development hereby permitted is commenced details of all
boundary treatment(s) shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to
the first occupation of the development or phased as agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be maintained in the approved form

21

for so long as the development remains on the site.
Reason: To safeguard amenity and highway safety. Relevant policy: Core
Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6
7) Prior to commencement of development, details of the landscaping and boundary
treatment including hard and soft landscaping for plots 63 to 71 (inclusive) shall
first be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the approved details
and the landscaping shall be permanently so retained unless otherwise agreed in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the amenity and landscape character of the area.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery
Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21

PLANNING HISTORY - Site
O/2013/0101
Outline planning permission for a residential development
comprising up to 126 dwellings, public open space, children's
play areas, accesses to Cutbush Lane and the Shinfield Eastern
Relief Road, Landscaping, Ecological buffer zone, ground
modelling, sustainable drainage systems and associated
infrastructure. – Approved 24/12/2013
PLANNING
HISTORY SOUTH
M4 SDL
F/2005/4827

Proposed construction of an Eastern relief road for Shinfield
including a new bridge over the M4 motorway and under Cutbush
Lane. Appeal withdrawn 31/10/2006

O/2007/2268

Outline application for the proposed residential development (C3
Use) at a minimum of 30 dph plus creation of new vehicular
accesses footpath links cycleways and public open space.
Approved 25/02/2008

O/2009/1027

Outline application for phase 1 development of Science &
Innovation Park (Access to be considered) plus full application for
the construction of access road foot and cycle ways M4
overbridge and associated works including landscaping and
engineering works plus erection of boundary wall and fence
adjoining Shinfield Road/Access Road. Part demolition and
reformation of facade of Stable Buildings at Lane End Farm and
demolition of existing farm buildings. – Approved 27/10/10

F/2010/1428

Full application for the construction of an Eastern Relief Road
(ERR) to Shinfield including the construction of road foot and
cycle-ways an M4 over-bridge. Re-grading of embankments
landscaping utilities creation of flood compensation areas and
associated works including engineering and other operations.

22

Erection of replacement boundary wall and fence adjoining
Shinfield Road/ ERR part demolition of existing farm buildings at
Lane End Farm and demolition/deconstruction of two poly tunnels
south of Cutbush Lane. – Appeal Approved 08/11/2012
O/2010/1432

Outline application for a residential development of up to 1 200
dwellings a further 150 units of specialist housing (including
sheltered housing) for elderly persons a local centre to include a
foodstore (2 500 sqm) and other retail and office uses a
community building proposed extension of existing primary
schools erection of a new primary school public open
space sports pavilion suitable alternative natural greenspace
(SANG) and access and landscaping. – Appeal Approved
08/11/2012

F/2010/1434

Application for change of use of land from agricultural to Suitable
Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) (Sui Generis use) and
associated development to include Pedestrian and Vehicular
access car park Footpaths and Landscaping. – Appeal
Approved 08/11/2012

F/2013/0347

Full planning permission for the erection of 276 dwellings with
associated access landscaping and open space following
demolition of existing dwelling and ancillary buildings (214a Hyde
End Road). - Approved 24/12/2013

O/2013/0565

Outline application for the erection of 100 dwellings with
associated landscaping and open space means of access to be
considered. – Approved 10/04/2014

O/2013/0346

Hybrid application with part in outline in respect of up to 900
dwellings up to a three form entry primary school public open
space access and landscape (means of access into the site to
be considered) and part in full in respect to Suitable Alternative
Natural Greenspace (SANG) following demolition of existing
dwelling and ancillary buildings including greenhouses sheds
stables and garage (214a Hyde End Road). - Approved
24/12/2013

F/2014/2323

Full permission erection of 9 dwellings north of Croft Road –
Approved 23/03/15

SUMMARY INFORMATION
For Residential
Site Area
Existing units
Proposed units
Proposed density - dwellings/hectare
Number of affordable units proposed
Previous land use
Informal Public Open Space proposed
Proposed parking spaces

7.6ha
0
126
Approx. 28
Off-site commuted sum
Agricultural
0.46ha
398

23

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Archaeological officer
No objection
Natural England
No objection
Environmental Health
No objection
Network Rail
No comments
Request condition (officer note – this condition was
Thames Water
attached to the outline planning consent and therefore
it is not necessary to duplicate for the Reserved
Matters application)
Highways Agency
No objection
Request a fire hydrant (officer note – this is secured by
Berkshire Fire and Rescue
condition 38 of the outline planning consent and it is
not necessary to duplicate for the Reserved Matters
application)
English Heritage
No objection
Planning Policy
No objection
Waste services
No objection
Highways
No objection
Landscape and trees
No objection, request conditions 5 to 7
WBC Ecology
No objection
Shinfield Parish Council
Support the variety of design of dwellings and external
features of the buildings
Concern over the road width for the main spine road
serving busses and parking for dwellings along this
street (officer note – see appendix 1)
Request a condition for the management of green
spaces by the Parish Council- (officer note – the S106
pursuant to the outline planning permission secures
the transfer of the land to Wokingham Borough
Council)

Public Rights of Way Officer

Berks Bucks and Oxford
Wildlife Trust

Request a condition restricting the use of the dwellings
for houses of multiple occupancy (officer note – see
appendix 1)
Request contributions for upgrade of footpaths – officer
note: these should have been sought at the outline
stage where the S106 was secured for the site. No
comments were received at the outline stage.
Justification for these would have also been required in
order to meet the CIL requirements
Requests an additional footpath access on the south
east corner of the site – officer note, there are good
linkages from the site and the insertion of an additional
pedestrian access would require a further break in the
hedgerow
Request conditions (Officer note, these apart from
condition 4 were attached to the outline planning
permission and as such it is not necessary to duplicate

24

Conservation Officer
Environment Agency

these)
No objection
No objection

REPRESENTATIONS
2 letters of objection
1 objecting to loss of countryside – officer note see appendix 1
1 objecting to increase in traffic (officer note – access to the site and the impacts of the
additional traffic were assessed as part of the outline application which contained a full
Transport Appraisal. The Highways Officer was satisfied that the additional vehicle
movements could be adequately accommodated)
PLANNING POLICY
National Policy
National Planning Policy Framework 2012
Technical Guidance to the National Planning Policy Framework 2012
South East Plan 2009
Saved policy NRM6 - Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
Wokingham Borough Core Strategy policies:
CP1 - Sustainable Development
CP2 - Inclusive Communities
CP3 - General Development Principles
CP4 - Infrastructure Requirements
CP5 - Housing Mix, Density and Affordability
CP6 - Managing Travel Demand
CP7 - Biodiversity
CP8 - Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
CP9 - Scale and Location of Development Proposals
CP10 - Improvements to the Strategic Transport Network
CP11 - Proposals outside Development Limits (including countryside)
CP17 - Housing delivery
CP19 – South of the M4 Strategic Development Location
Appendix 7 – Additional Guidance for the Development of Strategic Development
Locations
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD LP) policies
CC01
Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
CC02
Development Limits
CC03
Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
CC04
Sustainable Design and Construction
CC05
Renewable energy and decentralised energy networks
CC06
Noise
CC07
Parking
CC08
Safeguarding alignments of the Strategic Transport Network & Road
Infrastructure
CC09
Development and Flood Risk (from all sources)
CC10
Sustainable Drainage

25

Residential Uses
TB05
Housing Mix
TB07:
Internal Space Standards
TB09
Residential accommodation for vulnerable groups
Landscape and Nature Conservation
TB21:
Landscape Character
TB23:
Biodiversity and Development
SAL05:

Delivery of avoidance measures for Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection
Area

Emerging Shinfield Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan:
At this stage, the Parish Neighbourhood Plan has not undergone the required
pre submission consultation by the parish, nor has it been formally submitted
to the Borough Council. As such having had regard to the NPPG and NPPF,
it has very limited weight.
Supplementary Planning Documents
Wokingham Borough Design Supplementary Planning Document (18 February 2010)
Planning Advice Note, Infrastructure Impact Mitigation, Contributions for New
Development (Revised 28th April 2010)
Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document (28 May
2010)
South of the M4 Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning Document
(October 2011)
Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (October
2011)
Wokingham Borough Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document (2 June
2011)
A Vision for Our Villages: Ryeish Green, Spencers Wood, Three Mile Cross Character
Statement
PLANNING ISSUES
Principle of development and infrastructure delivery
1) The application site forms part of a larger area designated under the Wokingham
Borough Core Strategy as the South of the M4 Strategic Development Location (SDL).
2) Wokingham Borough Core Strategy policy CP17 establishes a requirement to provide
at least 13,487 new dwellings with associated development and infrastructure in the
period 2006-2026. The majority of this new residential development will be in four
SDLs, of which South of the M4 SDL is one of these . It is anticipated that a phased
development incorporating approximately 2,500 dwellings and associated infrastructure
will be delivered on 77 hectares of land within the South of the M4 SDL (Appendix
A7.14).
3) Core Strategy policy CP19 is amplified by Appendix 7 of the Core Strategy, the South

26

of the M4 Strategic Development Location Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
and Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions SPD, which addresses the associated
infrastructure impacts across the whole Borough. These documents establish a
requirement for a sustainable, well designed, mixed use development and make clear
that a co-ordinated approach to the development of the SDL will be required to deliver
the necessary infrastructure, facilities and services to meet the needs of the expanded
community.
4) The outline consent included an Infrastructure Delivery Plan and S106 legal
agreement. The legal agreement secures the coordinated delivery of the infrastructure
necessary to support the development and fair share of the SDL wide infrastructure.
These included contributions towards off-site infrastructure and services such as roads,
education, sports facilities, community facilities and green infrastructure. In addition, it
secured an affordable housing contribution in accordance with the Core Strategy and
Infrastructure Delivery and Contributions Supplementary Planning Document.
5) The details approved under the outline planning consent established parameters for
the development including general site layout including the indicative location of
housing, open space, density and general heights of buildings. Access to the site was
also established at two points from Cutbush Lane (one of which to serve 5 dwellings).
The main spine road through the site was also designed to accommodate busses and a
bus only access was established at the north eastern part of the site which will link on to
the Eastern Relief Road.
6) The outline planning permission established the principle of development for the site
together with access for up to 126 residential units. These were considered against the
relevant Core Strategy policies and the emerging (now adopted) MDD policies and the
application was acceptable. The current application seeks reserved matters approval
for appearance, layout, landscaping and scale.
Site Description
7) The application site relates to an area of land at the east of Shinfield located north of
Cutbush Lane. The land use of the site is predominately agricultural (arable) although
there is an area of woodland to the north west of the site and also a disused man made
reservoir (this served the previous horticultural activities of the University of Reading).
8) The site slopes gently up towards the north from approximately 50m to 60m AOD.
There is also a small valley type feature running roughly diagonally through the centre
of the site.
9) The land fronting onto Cutbush Lane has an established hedgerow and there are two
dwellings located towards the eastern edge of the site (Oak Tree Barn and Barn Close
Cottage). Modern housing development (Grenadier Close and Monarch Drive) is
located on the western boundary of the site with the houses within these estates
backing onto the land.
10) The application site would abut the permitted Eastern Relief Road and Science Park
beyond this. The main pedestrian and cycle access route through the proposed site was
included in outline as part of the Science Park planning approval.
Affordable and specialist housing

27

11) Core Strategy Policy CP5, Housing mix, density and affordability, amplified by MDD
LP Policy TB05: Housing Mix, South of the M4 SPD Design Principle 2b, the
Infrastructure SPD and the Affordable Housing SPD, requires a mix of tenures,
including up to 35% affordable housing within SDLs. Accordingly, the S106 agreement
for the outline application secured a financial contribution of £3.5 million for the
provision of off-site affordable housing. On this basis, the application proposes no
affordable houses on site but the contribution secured through the S106 will mean that
these will be provided elsewhere. It is therefore considered that the application secures
the 35% affordable housing requirement and the affordable housing officer is satisfied
with this strategy.
Dwelling mix
12) MDD LP Policy TB05 requires an appropriate housing mix which reflects a balance
between the character of the area and the current and projected needs of households.
13) All of the accommodation would be provided within houses. No apartment blocks
are proposed as the scale of these could have a detrimental impact on the
site/character of the area. As such no one bedroom flats that would ordinarily be
accommodated in apartment blocks are proposed. The proposal for 126 dwellings
incorporates the following mix / storey heights:
Dwelling type (bedrooms) Number provided
on site
2
14
3
51
4
32
5
27

2 stories
14
51
13
27

2.5 stories

19

14) The Policy Officer has assessed the application and raises no objections in terms of
the dwelling mix. Taking the constraints of the site into account, this approach is
considered acceptable.
Masterplan – Layout
15) Core Strategy Policies CP1, Sustainable Development and CP3, General Principles
for Development requires high quality design that respects its context. This requirement
is amplified by MDD LP Policies CC03, Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
and TB21, Landscape Character and South of the M4 SPD which requires development
proposals to protect and enhance the Borough’s Green Infrastructure, retaining existing
trees, hedges and other landscape features and incorporating high quality - ideally
native – planting as an integral part of any scheme, within the context of the Council’s
Landscape Character Assessment.
16) Core Strategy policy CP19 sets out the concept rational for the design parameters
for the South of the M4 SDL and these are outlined in further detail in Appendix 7 of the
Core Strategy. This states that:
Development in a series of locations around the periphery of the three villages
is required. This approach should consider the relationship between the
current built areas and the open countryside. Opportunities to form new edges
to the existing villages exist, allowing a managed transition between urban and

28

rural.
17) Further design guidance is provided by the South of the M4 SPD in section 4.
Design principle 3 is concerned with character and states that there should be diversity
and distinction in the SDL which should be enhanced through the application of
character typologies.
18) The parameter plan submitted for the outline planning application and Design and
Access Statement carefully considered the relationship with the existing village and built
form surrounding the site and the edge of the village towards the eastern boundary. On
the eastern boundary, full planning permission exists for the Eastern Relief Road which
would act as a defined boundary to the application site.
19) The submitted masterplan retains these principals and responds to the constraints
of the site. To reflect this and inform diversity of development, the applicant has applied
three different character areas – Residential Streets, Rural Edge and The Avenues.
Within these areas, differing street typologies, building heights and landscaping have
been applied to promote variety and also manage vehicle speeds throughout the site.
In addition, consideration has been applied to the relationship of the site and the
surrounding area through the application of these differing character areas and these
are outlined below.
20) The Avenues character area runs broadly along the main spine road through the
centre of the site. This area has a mix of 2 and 2.5 storey house types. The design
choice of this area has been applied to emphasise the principal route through the centre
of the site and is in keeping with the approved parameter plans for the outline planning
consent. The height and massing of the dwellings in this part of the development is
however offset by the proposed central SUDS feature which provides a wide buffer
between the buildings located either side of the spine road. The SUDS feature also
responds well to the landscape setting of the site which will retain the central valley
feature.
21) The Residential Street character area is predominantly made up of 2 storey
development with occasional 2.5 storey building heights. This character area makes up
the majority of the built form within the application site and has been applied to the
proposed dwellings located on the eastern and western boundaries. This approach is
considered to respond well to the existing residential development on the west of the
site.
22) Towards the east, the visual impact of the built form is reduced by the proposed
ecological foraging area together with a bund (which will be delivered by the Eastern
Relief Road). This will provide a wide buffer from the built form to the Eastern Relief
Road. This combined with sensitive consideration of building heights (max two stories),
density and proposed landscaping in the ecological foraging area helps to reduce the
visual impact of the dwellings and provides a transition between the built form and
adjacent countryside.
23) The Rural Edge character area has been applied to dwellings fronting Cutbush
Lane, entrance of the application site and on the northern boundary. The design
approach here is two storey development, lower density buildings and houses that are
well set back from the street. This is considered to respond well to the character of the
area and semi-rural nature of Cutbush Lane.

29

Masterplan – Density
24) Design principles 3 (a-g) are outlined in the South of the M4 SPD and are
concerned with the character of the development, including the density of development.
The Core Strategy approach for the South of the M4 SDL in respect to density is
outlined in Appendix 7 which indicates an average density of 30-35dph across the SDL.
25) The overall density proposed by the application is 28 dph. The masterplan shows
that density would be greater in towards the existing village and built form at Grenadier
Close and Monarch Drive and the centre of the site to the east of the main central spine
road. Beyond this, towards the edges of the site the level of density generally
decreases which provides a degree of transition between the built form and countryside
beyond. This approach is considered broadly consistent with the advice provided by the
SPD and the overall density of development is in line with Appendix 7 of the Core
Strategy and is therefore acceptable.
Masterplan - Design and appearance
26) In terms of the detailed design of the buildings, the South of the M4 SPD
recommends that the existing built form should be used to inform the design. The
Design and Access Statement includes a character analysis of the surrounding area
and picks out themes that are common in the locality. These have been used to help
inform the design style of the dwellings which generally take on a modern traditional
form of design.
27) Throughout the site, the applicant has provided a good range of housing types and
styles ensuring that there is diversity in the built form and a range of housing for future
occupants. The application of character areas outlined above also helps provide variety
throughout the site. In addition, there is diversity in the style of the dwellings achieved
through detailing such as rendering on some house types and brick work details on
others. This helps to provide a clear and legible neighbourhood.
28) The overall design approach for all of the dwellings is considered to respect the
context of the site location and advice provided by the NPPF, policies CP1 and CP3
together with the South of the M4 SPD and Supplementary Planning Guidance and is
therefore acceptable.
Masterplan - Landscaping
29) The proposed layout integrates existing landscape features and is enhanced by
incorporating a water feature in the open space at the northern part of the site. This
would link to a SUDS and areas of informal open space running broadly through the
centre of the site along part of the existing valley line. These measures together with
the proposed boundary treatments would reduce and mitigate the proposed
development’s impact on the landscape and is generally consistent with the advice
provided by the South of the M4 SPD.
30) On the southern boundary of the site, there is an existing hedgerow. Much of this
will be retained and whilst there would be breaks in the hedgerow created for access,
the principle access to the site would be softened by a SUDS feature / areas of open
space running from north to south along the main spine road of the site. The access

30

points do not deviate from the outline permission and are therefore acceptable. The
applicant has also strengthened this part of the site by incorporating landscaping within
the SUDS area adjacent to the main spine road.
31) The plans show a small element of cut and fill to accommodate the proposed
housing as the site slopes gently from north to south. This is typically required for a
sloping site and the outline application established the principle of this. The applicant
has carefully considered the site constraints and amended the plans in order to keep
this to a minimum. The Landscape Officer is satisfied with this approach and the
existing landscape features would be retained subject to conditions 5 -7.
32) The applicant has carefully considered the landscaping within the site masterplan.
Where possible existing trees are to be retained and there would be no loss of any
species considered significant by the Landscape Officer. Semi mature trees are
proposed within the site layout which would help soften the built form and provide a
verdant character along the areas of public open space. The Landscape Officer has
assessed the planting strategy and is satisfied with the planting at this stage. Further
details in respect to planting can be secured by condition 7 of the outline planning
consent.
Masterplan conclusion
33) The design approach taken to inform the layout and appearance of the buildings is
considered to respond well to the existing landscape features, context of the site and
surrounding area. Overall, it is considered that the proposal would not have a
significant detrimental impact on the character of the area and is broadly in accordance
with the principles of the relevant planning policies and supplementary planning advice.
Residential amenity: the impact upon neighbouring properties
34) Core Strategy policy CP3 requires that new development should be of a high quality
of design that does not cause detriment to the amenities of adjoining land users.
Separation standards for new residential development are set out in section 4.7 of the
Borough Design Guide.
Grenedier Close/Monarch Drive
35) There is a minimum separation distance of 50 m to the dwellings at the northern end
of Monarch Drive and the woodland between the proposed houses and existing built
form prevent any significant amenity impacts.
36) In terms of Grenedier Close, plot 19 has 8m side to side separation to no. 7
Grenadier close which is in excess of the standards outlined in the Borough Design
Guide.
37) The level of back to back separation from the proposed dwellings and existing
houses on Grenedier Close and Monarch Drive ranges from 22m – 32m. In this
location there would be a mixture of 2 and 2.5 storey buildings. The Borough Design
Guide has separation standards for back to back relationships which are 22m for two
storey elements and 26m for buildings above two stories. The proposed houses meet
these thresholds in both cases.
38) In terms of No. 19 Grenedier Close and No. 2 Monarch Drive, the proposed houses
would have a back to flank relationship with these dwelling. The level of separation is
around 20m from the proposed houses which is in excess of the 15m separation for a

31

rear to flank relationship outlined in the Borough Design Guide.
Cutbush Lane
39) The majority of the existing dwellings on Cutbush Lane near the application site are
located on the south side of the road with over 35m separation to these dwellings. This
is in excess of the standards outlined in the Borough Design Guide and as such, no
significant amenity impacts are envisaged.
40) With regards to the two dwellings on the northern side of Cutbush Lane (Oak Tree
Barn and Barn Close Cottage), there is around 26m separation between the houses that
would back onto Oak Tree Barn.
41) In terms of Barn Close Cottage, there is around 22m separation from the main
dwelling house and proposed houses. The houses here are also sited at an oblique
angle to Barn Close Cottage which limits the level of overlooking. The level of
separation to both Barn Close Cottage and Oak Tree Barn is sufficient to prevent any
significant amenity impacts.
42) Overall, given that the separation standards outlined in the Borough Design Guide
have been met and exceeded in some cases and taking into account the onsite
relationships, siting and the scale of the proposed houses, it is not considered that any
significant amenity impacts in terms of loss of light, overbearing or overlooking would be
caused by the proposed houses.
Residential amenity – noise
43) Whilst it is acknowledged that there would be a greater level of activity in the area
arising from the delivery and future occupation of the housing, this would not be to an
extent that is unusual in a residential area. As the site has been identified as being
suitable for housing, the principle of residential development in this area has been
established. Construction activities would be temporary and in order to reduce the
impact for the surrounding residents, these can be controlled by conditions 13 and 14
attached to the outline planning consent. It is considered that the proposal would not
result in any significant harm to the amenity of the existing residents and is in
accordance with policies CP1 and CP3 and supplementary planning guidance.
Residential amenity: the amenity of future occupants of the development
44) The Borough Design Guide and MDD LP policy TB07 set out minimum thresholds
for private amenity space and internal space standards which new residential
development should be assessed against.
Private amenity space
45) The Borough Design Guide sets a minimum garden depth of 11m. In terms of the
submitted masterplan, the proposed layout completely complies with these
requirements with all houses meeting the minimum threshold. For some of the proposed
houses, the garden areas are wide which increases the area of amenity space. Overall,
it is considered the development will provide acceptable levels of private amenity space
for the future occupants of the dwellings.

32

Internal Space Standards
46) With respect to internal floor space of the units, the Borough Design Guide and
Policy TB07 of the MDD LP establish internal space standards for new dwellings,
setting standards for both the gross internal area (GIA) and the minimum combined
area of the living, kitchen and dining spaces for houses. All the proposed units either
meet or exceed the minimum internal space standards and the combined living, kitchen
and dining area specified in policy TB07. This will ensure an appropriate standard of
living and amenity will be enjoyed by future occupiers of the dwellings.
Security
47) The layout takes into account security and all of the communal areas of open space
are well overlooked by the proposed housing as are the areas of parking. The layout
also means that there are back to back relationships which restrict access to private
amenity space.
Noise
48) Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDD LP Policy CC06 direct development away from
areas where noise would impact upon amenity and require mitigation where noise
cannot be completely avoided.
49) The Environmental Statement submitted for the outline planning permission
established that the main sources of noise are the M4 motorway and noise anticipated
from the Eastern Relief Road. The applicant has considered this in the layout of the
buildings and boundary treatments which are fenced which will reduce noise levels to
outdoor amenity space. Condition 41 of the outline consent ensures that a mitigation
scheme for any dwellings that may be affected by noise be submitted and approved
prior to the commencement of development. These details can therefore be assessed
at a later stage as the measures will not affect the appearance of the buildings and
therefore they do not materially affect the application.
Sustainable Design and Construction
50) Core Strategy Policy CP1 requires development to contribute towards the goal of
achieving zero carbon development by including on-site renewable energy features and
minimising energy and water consumption. MDD LP policies CC04, CC05 and the
Sustainable Design and Construction Supplementary Planning Document (May 2010)
also emphasise this.
51) The Energy Strategy submitted proposes that instead of providing renewables on
site, the use of alternative building practices or fabric first approach can achieve a
greater energy and carbon savings. Crest at North Wokingham and other developers
such as David Wilson Homes on South Wokingham SDL, favour this fabric first
approach and this can achieve greater carbon savings overall by prioritising measures
such as improved insulation (thereby reducing the demand for energy) and installing low
energy products instead of the use of renewable or low carbon energy sources on site.
52) The submitted strategy adopts this approach, demonstrating 11.39% reduction in
the sites energy demand and carbon saving compared to 10% policy requirement and
that required by condition 17 of the outline planning permission.
53) As part of delivering sustainable development on the site, the Council expects

33

measures to reduce water consumption to be included within the development. In the
case of water, this can be achieved by the inclusion of aerated taps, shaped low
capacity baths, dual flush toilets, low flow rate showers and the provision of water butts.
The submitted Code for Sustainable Homes statement demonstrates that no more than
105 litres per person per day can be achieved. Composting facilities for each dwelling
will also be provided.
Access and movement
54) The outline planning permission established the access points to the site and was
accompanied with a full Transport Assessment. This included modelling the potential
impacts of the development by using the Wokingham Strategic Transport Model which
included a review of this development site, the South of the M4 SDL and the wider Core
Strategy development proposals. It was demonstrated that there would be no
significant harm caused by additional houses to both local and the wider transport
networks, subject to the delivery of the Transport Interventions that were identified and
secured through a legal process. The current reserved matters application does not
deviate from the established access points approved under the outline planning
application.
55) The site would serve as an important part of the proposed south of the M4 bus
strategy. The main spine road through the site would allow for busses to access the
Eastern Relief Road (ERR) and proposed science park. A controlled bus
only/pedestrian/cycle access is sited towards the west of the site which would link onto
the ERR. The ERR is currently ahead of the original delivery programme and as such
will enable bus access, providing sustainable, to the site from an earlier start.
Access and movement - Site layout
56) The planning application proposes a street hierarchy with different streets for the
types of user and flow volumes. The principle access to the site is from Cutbush Lane
which would serve the majority of the houses. This is the main spine road or primary
street through the site leading from the ERR access junction to Cutbush Lane . This
has been designed to comply with the Council’s standards and will be a minimum width
of 6.1 metres, widening in areas such as bends to ensure that two buses can pass
simultaneously. Bus stops will also be located within the site to ensure good
connectivity for the development site with Public Transport. Footpaths along this spine
road have been designed to be 2m wide on both sides in order to separate pedestrians
from traffic movements.
58) Away from the primary road, the road hierarchy specification reduces with differing
road widths, footpaths and materials being used. There is also a second access to the
site from Cutbush Lane which will only serve five dwellings.
Access and movement - Car parking
59) In line with Core Strategy Policy CP6, Managing Travel Demand and MDDLP Policy
CC07: Parking Condition 24 of O/2013/0101 requires reserved matters to incorporate
car and motorcycle parking in line with the Council’s standards. The standards require
allocated parking to be supplemented with unallocated parking.
60) The application proposes a total of 398 spaces, of which 102 spaces are within

34

garages, 245 are allocated spaces and 51 are visitor spaces. This level equates to 2.35
spaces per dwelling and 3.15 spaces per dwelling when including garages. The level of
parking is in accordance with the WBC parking demand calculator (which assumes that
garage accommodation accounts for 0.5 space per dwelling) and the amount of parking
is proportionate to the size of dwelling that it is intended to serve. The majority of
parking is provided on plot with some designated parking spaces provided in bays. The
proposed allocated parking within bays is located in relation to the dwelling it is
intended to serve. Visitor parking is also well distributed through the development and
this is provided in bays which are off-set from the carriageway to reduce the level of on
carriageway parking.
61) On this basis, the level of parking provided should limit demand for on street parking
along the primary street and throughout the development.
Access and Movement - Cycle storage
62) Consistent with Core Strategy Policies CP1, Sustainable Development and CP6,
Managing Travel Demand, which expect development to make provision to support
sustainable travel, Condition 23 of O/2013/0101 requires the reserved matters to
incorporate cycle storage in line with the Council’s standards at the time. These are set
out in MDDLP Appendix 2: the requirement is for provision of at least one cycle space
for dwellings with three or fewer habitable rooms, two spaces for dwellings with four or
five habitable rooms and three cycle spaces for larger dwellings.
63) Cycle parking is provided on site both within garaging and sheds. All dwellings
have been provided with sufficient space for cycle storage / parking.
Access and Movement - Access to public transport
64) A South of M4 Public Transport Strategy which will provide up to a 15 minute each
way frequency bus service that operates in a loop in and out of Reading along the A327
or A33 corridors. This frequency of service combined with high quality bus stop
infrastructure and the bus priority such as the bus only link to Shinfield are expected to
make the bus an attractive service for many destinations.
65) As part of the bus strategy, the bus service will route directly through the site. The
application has a pair of bus stops located within the development which are well within
400m of all the proposed houses on the site. With a high frequency bus service,
improved pedestrian and cycle connectivity and the delivery of the Council’s My Journey
Travel Planning initiative there are good sustainable alternative modes of transport
available to the new residents other than the private car.
Flooding and Drainage
66) Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDDLP Policies CC09 and CC10 establish that new
development should avoid increasing and where possible reduce flood risk (from all
sources) by first developing in areas with lowest flood risk, carrying out a Flood Risk
Assessment (FRA) where required and managing surface water in a sustainable
manner. These requirements are reinforced by South of the M4 SPD Design Principle
1c(ii) which requires provision of a comprehensive system for water management,
which takes account of existing features and includes proposals for effective sustainable
urban drainage (SUDS), measures to avoid flood risk and new ponds.

35

67) The site is entirely in Flood Zone 1 where the risk of flooding is low and all uses,
including more vulnerable residential uses and less vulnerable uses (the proposed
school, shops and community uses) are appropriate. Furthermore, the site was
allocated in the Core Strategy, which was subject to a Strategic Flood Risk Assessment.
68) The outline application was supported by a Flood Risk Assessments which assed
the impact of flooding on the application site. This identified flood risks across the
whole site and propose measures to manage surface water runoff including the 1 in 30
year and 1 in 100 year storm events (+30% for climate change) for the areas of
residential development. Condition 34 of O/2013/0101 required development to be in
accordance with this document.
69) In order to ensure that the increase in surface water runoff associated with the
additional built form is managed, a range of SUDS features have been included in the
design. As advised, these are located in the centre of the site and the location of these
has been broadly informed by the topography of the site. Development surrounding
these features has been considered so that they are integrated into the public realm
within the built up areas and offer soft landscaping within the site.
70) The Flood Risk Assessment and proposed measures on site have been assessed
by the Environment Agency and the council’s Drainage Officer. They have raised no
objection to the proposed package of measures in terms of the impact to existing
neighbouring residents and future occupiers of the site. On this basis the proposals are
considered acceptable.
Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
71) The Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (SPA) was designated under
European Directive due to its importance for heathland bird species. Core Strategy
policy CP8 establishes that new residential development within a 7km zone of influence
is likely to contribute to a significant impact upon the integrity of the SPA. The South of
the M4 SDL falls within this zone of influence and, in accordance with Core Strategy
policy CP17 and Design Principle 1c (vi), mitigation in the form of Suitable Alternative
Natural Greenspace (SANG) is being provided.
72) The proposed development only generates a need for 0.56ha of SANG which
effectively is too small an area to provide an attractive resource within the application
site. The development will instead be mitigated by the provision of the Loddon SANG.
This has been designed to provide sufficient space required to compensate for the
growth in resident numbers associated with this development and some of the other
SDL developments. Planning permission for the Loddon SANG has been granted
under F/2010/1434 and as such this meets the Natural England’s 'Guidelines for the
Creation of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace’ (SANG) (2008) in terms of having
all the essential features required to attract recreational users away from the SPA. The
planning permission has been implemented and work on the SANG is in an advanced
stage and it is expected that the SANG will be ready in April 2015. Condition 10 of the
outline planning consent requires the Loddon SANG to be delivered and available of
use prior to the occupation of any of the dwellings. Natural England and the Biodiversity
Officer are satisfied with this approach and the applicant has also agreed to provide
SAMM payments to provide an overall SPA mitigation strategy.
Ecology
73) Core Strategy Policy CP7, carried forward by MDD LP Policy TB23, requires

36

appropriate protection of species and habitats of conservation value. Design Principle
1b (i-ii) is concerned with protection of ecological habitat and biodiversity features,
together with mitigation of any impacts that do arise. The Biodiversity Officer has
assessed the application and is satisfied that there would no significant impact on
ecology.
Archaeology
74) Core Strategy Policy CP3 and MDD LP Policy TB25 require the archaeological
impact of development to be taken into consideration. An Archaeological Assessment
was submitted with the outline planning application which indicated that there is no
evidence to support the presence of significant archaeological remains on the
application site and a low potential for archaeological deposits on the site. Condition 16
relating to archaeology was attached to the outline permission for a written scheme of
investigation prior to the commencement of development and this approach is
supported by the Council’s Archaeological Officer.
CONCLUSION
The reserved matters are consistent with the principles and parameters established by
the outline planning permission, which themselves reflect the Council’s adopted policies
and guidance for development within the South of the M4 SDL. It is considered that the
applications will deliver high quality development in accordance with the Council’ spatial
strategy and vision and therefore can be recommended for approval.

CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services

37

This page is intentionally left blank

39

This page is intentionally left blank

41

This page is intentionally left blank

43

This page is intentionally left blank

45

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1 – Response to public consultation comments
Land north of Cutbush Lane RM/2014/2561
Shinfield Parish Council
•

Support the variety of design of dwellings and external features of the
buildings

•

Concern over the road width for the main spine road serving busses and
parking for dwellings along this street
The parking for the development is in accordance with current WBC
standards, including the dwellings situated along the primary road. It is not
considered that on street parking will occur along the Primary Road on a
regular basis and therefore not expected to affect the current proposed bus
route running through the site (up to four buses an hour). However, should on
street parking becomes an issue, the S106 legal agreement for the outline
planning consent secured funding for a Traffic Regulation Order to introduce
parking restrictions on the bus route should this be necessary.

•

Request a condition for the management of green spaces by the Parish
Council
The S106 pursuant to the outline planning permission secures the transfer of
the land to Wokingham Borough Council

•

Request a condition restricting the use of the dwellings for houses of multiple
occupancy
Although the comments in respect to seeking a condition for restricting the
use of the dwellings for Homes of Multiple Occupancy are noted, it is not
considered reasonable to attach a condition at this stage. Should there be
issues in the future, the council could consider the use of an Article 4 direction
to restrict the use of the dwellings and prevent these being converted into
Homes of Multiple Occupancy

Local Residents
•
•

Loss of countryside
See committee report paragraphs 15 to 23
Increase in traffic
Access to the site and the impacts of the additional traffic were assessed as
part of the outline application which contained a full Transport Appraisal. The
Highways Officer was satisfied that the additional vehicle movements could
be adequately accommodated)

47

This page is intentionally left blank

Christopher Howard
To:
Subject:

Christopher Howard
FW: Planning application RM/2014/2561 - Land north of Cutbush Lane
~[UNCLASSIFIED]~

From: Katy Hughes [mailto:katy.hughes@shinfieldparish.gov.uk]
Sent: 08 January 2015 13:53
To: Christopher Howard
Subject: RE: Planning application RM/2014/2561 - Land north of Cutbush Lane ~[UNCLASSIFIED]~

Hi Chris
Please find below the comments from the parish council in relation to RM/2014/2561.
We intend to also send the comments relating to tandem parking, road width and bus route to Mark Cupit and Chris
Easton
The parish council appreciate the variation in the external design of the dwellings and the design features
incorporated into the exterior facades (brickwork details etc.)
Whilst the parish council recognise that the developer is providing a level of parking spaces above the minimum
required in the parking standards, it is extremely concerned with the use of tandem driveways for dwellings along
the main avenue. This is proposed as a 6.1 metre wide road with plans for a bus route to run along the avenue and
out onto Cutbush Lane and the Eastern Relied Road. The parish council would draw the officer’s attention to other
recently constructed developments such as Mitford Fields in Three Mile Cross and Shinfield Park where road widths
are similar, but on-street parking has meant that it would be impossible to route a local bus service through these
roads.
If a bus is to run through this development, then either the road requires parking restrictions, should be built wider,
or requires additional parking provision for houses along the avenue, primarily four bedroom town houses with two
tandem spaces each, along with preventative measures to stop parking on the street.
The parish council would like to see a condition added to the reserve matters to ensure that the developer offers
management of the green spaces in the development to the parish council prior to making any alternative
arrangements with a management company.

Thanks
Katy

49 1

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 133.
Development
Management
Ref No
F/2014/2662

No weeks on
day of
committee
17/17

Parish

Ward

Listed by:

Shinfield

Shinfield South

Scheme of
Delegation

Applicant
Location

Wokingham Borough Council
Grazeley School, Mereoak Lane, Grazeley,
Postcode RG7 1JY
Reading
Proposal
Proposed erection of a new extension to existing school to provide three
new classrooms, cookery room and toilets, to include new external
works to provide car parking, multi use games area, football pitch and
play area.
Type
Full
PS Category 18
Officer
Ashley Smith
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 29/04/15
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
The proposal consists of the erection of an extension to the existing school to provide
three new classrooms, a cookery room and toilets. The proposal also includes external
works to provide car parking, a multi use games area, a football pitch and play area.
Grazeley Parochial Primary School normally only takes in a half form of entry in each
year. The school is intended to be extended to accommodate a full single form of entry
at all age groups. The primary school needs to provide an extension to provide
additional teaching accommodation as the school does not have enough teaching
space to accommodate the extra pupils and meet current educational standards.
The proposal has received no letters of objection from local residents.
The application is brought before the Committee as the site is owned by Wokingham
Borough Council and it leads to an increase in pupil and staff numbers.

PLANNING STATUS
 Area of Special Character
 Countryside
 Oil/Gas Pipe Adjacent
 Adjacent to byway
 Great crested newt consultation zone
 Ground water protection zone
 Minerals Consultation Zone
 Nuclear Consultation Zone (3km)
 Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area (7km)

51

RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION by the
Head of Development, subject to the ecological holding reasons being
satisfactorily overcome, no objection being raised by the Office for Nuclear (ONR)
Regulation, and conditions as follows (as well as any additional conditions
required by the Borough Ecologist or ONR):
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004.
2. Before any part of the development is commenced, samples and details of the
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the buildings shall
have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant Policy: Core Strategy Policy CP3
3. This permission is in respect of the following drawings:
Drawing No

Title

Full schedule of all relevant plans to be included in Member’s update.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason:
To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the
application form and associated details hereby approved.
4. No work relating to the development hereby approved, including works of demolition
or preparation prior to building operations, shall take place other than between the
hours of 7.00am and 6pm Monday to Friday and 8.00am and 1pm Saturday, and at no
time on Sundays or Bank or national holidays, unless agreed in writing with the LPA.
Reason: To protect the occupiers of neighbouring properties from noise and disturbance
outside the permitted hours during the construction period. An earlier start time than
usually permitted is recommended in this case in the interests of health and safety.
Relevant Policies: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
5. No development shall commence until a surface water drainage scheme for the site,
based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and
hydro geological context of the development, has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance
with the approved details before the development is completed.

52

Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect water quality,
improve habitat and amenity, and ensure future maintenance of these.
Relevant Policies: NPPF

6. No building shall be occupied until the access has been constructed in accordance
with details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.

7. Prior to the occupation of the development the proposed vehicular access shall have
been formed and provided with visibility splays shown on the approved drawing number
131748-2100-C. The land within the visibility splays shall be cleared of any obstruction
exceeding 0.6 metres in height and maintained clear of any obstruction exceeding 0.6
metres in height at all times.
8. No part of the new building hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the
vehicle parking and turning space has been provided in accordance with the approved
plans, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The vehicle
parking shall not be used for any other purpose other than parking and the turning
space shall not be used for any other purpose other than turning.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to avoid adverse impact on
the public highway in the interests of highway safety.
Relevant Policies: CP6 and NPPF.

9. No development shall commence until details of secure and covered bicycle parking
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall
be implemented as approved before occupation and permanently retained.
Reason: In order to ensure bicycle parking facilities are provided and encourage use of
sustainable modes of travel.
Relevant Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP6

10. Before any phase of the development is commenced provision shall be made to
accommodate all site operatives, visitors and construction vehicles loading, off-loading,
parking and turning within the site during the construction period, in accordance with
details to be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
provision should be maintained and used at all times.
Reason: To prevent queuing and parking off site, in the interests of highway safety and
convenience.
Relevant Policies: Core Strategy policy CP6

53

11. Prior to the commencement of the development a Travel Plan shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The travel plan shall include a
programme of implementation and proposals to promote alternative forms of transport
to and from the site, other than by the private car and provide for periodic review. The
travel plan shall be fully implemented, maintained and reviewed as so-approved.
Reason: To encourage the use of all travel modes.
Relevant Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP6

12. No building shall be occupied until the off-site works comprising of new school keep
clear road markings on Mereoak Lane have been provided in accordance with Drg No.
131748-2100-C.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.
Relevant Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP6

13. No building shall be occupied until signage and lining has been provided at each
access and within the car park to ensure safe one-way operation in accordance with
details to be submitted and approved by the LPA.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.
Relevant Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP6

14. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended) (or any Order revoking and reenacting that Order with or without modification), no gates or barriers shall be erected
on the car park access on to Mereoak Lane hereby permitted.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.
Relevant Policy: NPPF, Core Strategy CP1 & CP6
15. The development hereby permitted shall be constructed to the current relevant
BREEAM requirements at the time of commencement of development. The
development shall also meet and exceed the statutory requirements for water resource
management.
Reason: To encourage environmentally sustainable development.
Relevant Policy:
NPPF, Core Strategy policy CP1, Sustainable Design and
Construction SPD.
16. The planned number of children attending the school shall not exceed 210 unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

54

Reason: To allow the LPA to assess whether or not the highway network and parking
at the site can safely accommodate increase in pupil numbers.
Relevant Policies: NPPF, Core Strategy CP6
17. No development shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of hard and soft landscaping, which
shall specify species, planting sizes, spacing and numbers of trees/shrubs to be
planted. In particular the scheme shall include a replacement hedgerow on the
perimeter of the new sports field and details of any bridging or fencing to be provided.
The scheme shall also detail all boundary treatments to be provided on site. The works
approved shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the
occupation of the building(s). Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years from
the date of the planting, die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased
shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.
Relevant Policies: Core Strategy policy CP3.
18. a) No development or other operation shall commence on site until an Arboricultural
Method Statement and Scheme of Works which provides for the retention and
protection of trees, shrubs and hedges growing on or adjacent to the site in accordance
with BS5837: 2012 has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. No development or other operations shall take place except in complete
accordance with the details as so-approved (hereinafter referred to as the Approved
Scheme).
b)
No operations shall commence on site in connection with development hereby
approved (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil moving,
temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation involving use of
motorised vehicles or construction machinery) until the tree protection works required by
the Approved Scheme are in place on site.
c)
No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of
vehicles, deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of liquids
shall take place within an area designated as being fenced off or otherwise protected in
the Approved Scheme.
d)
The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall not be
moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including external works
have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials removed
from the site, unless the prior approval in writing of the local planning authority has first
been sought and obtained.
19. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced details of all boundary
treatments shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the first occupation of
the development or phased as agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
scheme shall be maintained in the approved form for so long as the development

55

remains on the site.
Reason: To safeguard amenity and highway safety.
Relevant Policies: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6

20. Vegetation removal on site shall only be conducted outside the bird breeding
season, (March to August inclusive), or under the supervision and control of an
ecologist if undertaken in the period March to August inclusive
Reason: To ensure that the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 as amended is complied
with and breeding birds, their nests and eggs are not harmed or damaged.
21. No development shall commence until a programme of archaeological work (which
may comprise more than one phase of work) has been implemented in accordance with
a written scheme of investigation, which has been submitted to and approved in writing
by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that any archaeological remains within the site are adequately
investigated and recorded or preserved in situ in the interest of protecting the
archaeological heritage of the borough.
Relevant Policy: NPPF, MDD TB25
22. Possible ecological conditions (relating to new survey work)
23. Possible emergency planning condition (relating to Office for Nuclear Regulation
response)
Informatives:
1. The development accords with the policies contained within the adopted development
plan and there are no material considerations which warrant a different decision being
taken.
2. The applicant is reminded that this approval is only granted subject to conditions
which must be complied with prior to certain elements of the development starting on
site. The information required should be formally submitted to the Council, with the
relevant fee, once the details have been agreed the development should be carried out
only in accordance with those details. If this is not clear please contact the case officer
to discuss.
3. Should any great crested newts or evidence of great crested newts be found prior to
or during the development, all works must stop immediately and an ecological
consultant contacted for further advice and Wokingham Borough Council informed
before works can proceed. All contractors working on site should be made aware of the
advice and provided with the contact details of a relevant ecological consultant.

56

4. Should any bats or evidence of bats be found prior to or during the development, all
works must stop immediately and an ecological consultant or the Council’s ecologist
contacted for further advice before works can proceed. All contractors working on site
should be made aware of the advice and provided with the contact details of a relevant
ecological consultant.
5. The requisite Travel plan would need to comply with the latest national and local
guidance:
1) NPPF Section 4 (Sustainable Transport)
2) The Essential Guide to Travel Planning (DfT, March 2008)
3) Delivering Travel Plans Through the Planning Process (DfT, April 2009)
4) A Guide on Travel Plans for Developers (DfT)
5) Making Residential Travel Plans Work (DfT, June 2007) All accessible at:
http://www.dft.gov.uk/pgr/sustainable/travelplans/
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/improving-local-transport
Also:
WBC Transport Plan 3 and Active Travel Plan 2011 – 2026
WBC Workplace Travel Plan Guidance and Residential Travel Plan Guidance
Documents, covering workplace travel plans and residential travel plans provide local
guidance and are available on the Borough’s website.

PLANNING HISTORY
Grazeley Parochial Primary School has an extensive planning history which is available
on the planning file. The most recent relevant applications relating to permanent
additional educational provision on the site are as follows:
F/2014/0156
F/2010/2134

Proposed erection of an additional single storey modular building
to be used as a classroom (Approved 30/04/14)
Proposed erection of single storey extension to form new
classroom infill extension and internal alterations including
conversion of existing classroom to staff room. Erection of timber
fence enclosure for oil tank. (Approved - 10/11/2010)

SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
Land use(s)
Proposed increase in floorspace (+/-)
Proposed parking spaces
Existing School Capacity
Proposed increased pupil capacity
Staff numbers

C. 0.75 hectares
D1 + Agricultural
322m2
72 (Currently 11 spaces)
118
210 spaces
26 FTE (currently 19 FTE)

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Highways
No objection (conditions 6-14)

57

Tree and Landscapes
Ecology

Conservation Architect
Office for Nuclear
Regulation
Thames Water
Environment Agency
Borough Councillors
Parish Council

No objection (conditions 17-19)
Holding objection (Officer note: due to additional survey work
required, this element is covered by the recommendation)
(potential condition 22 )
No objection
Comments pending (Possible condition 23)
No objection
Offered standing advice
No comments
Shinfield Parish recorded “no comment” for this application.

REPRESENTATIONS


No letters of objection received.

APPLICANTS POINTS


The proposal provides essential facilities required to meet the borough’s
educational needs and leads to no additional pupil or staff numbers.

PLANNING POLICY
National policies
National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG
Wokingham Borough Core Strategy:
CP1: Sustainable Development
CP2: Inclusive Communities
CP3: General Development Principles
CP6: Managing Travel Demand
CP7: Biodiversity
MDD DPD Local Plan:
CC02: Development Limits
CC04: Sustainable Design and construction
CC06: Noise
CC05: Renewable energy and decentralised energy networks
CC07: Parking
CC09: Flood Risk
CC10: Sustainable Drainage
TB21: Landscape Character

58

TB23: Biodiversity and development

PLANNING ISSUES
Principle of Development
1. The school site and additional land acquired are within the countryside. All the
proposed new school facilities will be sited outside of settlement limits however will be
located in close proximity to the existing main school buildings. Policy CP11 of the Core
Strategy indicates new buildings should normally be located within settlement limits,
however essential community facilities that cannot be accommodated within
development limits or through the re-use or replacement of existing buildings can be
appropriate and where possible these should be built in close proximity to the primary
buildings on the site. It is considered in this case that the extension and ancillary
features are essential community facilities in support of the school, and that there is no
other more appropriate position to site the proposals in the vicinity, which would offer
the same benefits to education.
2. Policy CP2 of the Core Strategy aims to ensure that new development contributes to
the formation of sustainable and inclusive communities through the provision of
community facilities (including educational buildings), and that the requirements of
children are addressed.
3. Policy CP3 states that development must be appropriate in terms of its scale of
activity, mass, layout, built form, height, materials and character to the area in which it is
located and must be of high quality design without detriment to the amenities of
adjoining land uses and occupiers.
4. The Wokingham Borough Council Primary Strategy was agreed by Executive on 25th
October 2012. This strategy established that Wokingham Borough requires additional
primary school places to meet statutory duties set out in section 14 of the Education Act
1996. This area has been identified by the Education Authority as needing additional
capacity and as such it is considered that there is a need for the development which can
be assigned significant weight. Wokingham Borough has a statutory duty to provide
educational place and this expansion is designed mainly to meet the needs of the
existing population as well as future expansion expected in the area. In the case of
Grazeley Primary the ability to offer full forms of entry rather than simply part forms will
offer significant educational efficiencies.
5. Paragraph 72 of the NPPF states that great importance should be attached to
ensuring that sufficient choice of school places are available to meet the needs of
existing and new communities. Paragraph 72 states that Local Planning Authorities
should take a proactive, positive and collaborative approach to meeting this
requirement, and should look to approve development that will widen choice in
education. The NPPF states that great weight should be given to the need to create,
expand or alter schools.

59

Impact on Character
6. The proposed siting of the extension to the building would be to the north of the main
school building. The proposed extension has been positioned well back from Mereoak
Lane however will be relatively conspicuous from the front of the site due to the site’s
open frontage and the width of the addition.
7. The proposed extension is considered relatively well sited and well designed. It is
attached to the main building on its less conspicuous northern side which benefits from
better screening than the southern part of the site. Creating an extension, as opposed to
a new building, helps to prevent significant spread of development across the site and
the proposal seeks to replicate the historic appearance of the main building which is
considered appropriate.

8. The proposal would be reasonably well screened by the existing school buildings to
the South and East, and the northern boundary on to Mereoak Lane is reasonably well
vegetated. As such the building will not appear unduly prominent or excessive when
viewed from these directions. Long views of the building will be relatively limited in most
directions. In cases where longer views are possible, the building will be viewed against
the backdrop of the existing school and as such will not appear unduly prominent in the
locality.
9. The scheme proposes a new car park and MUGA on an area of land to the north of
the site, as well as the formalisation of a sports pitch and creation of a MUGA further
away from Mereoak Lane. The car park layout and appearance are considered to be
acceptable, and following negotiations with the Trees and Landscape officer a larger
vegetative buffer has been secured on the Mereoak Lane frontage as well as the
retention and provision of landscaping throughout the site. It is considered that the
appearance of the ancillary features is acceptable and that adequate provision for
landscaping has been made on the site.
10. The development proposes a large extension, car park and a number of supporting
facilities. These will cause an urbanising impact upon the countryside by the
introduction of the introduction development/built form in this locality. The harm however
has been limited by the proposals being well thought out and sited in the most
appropriate places on the site. It is considered preferable in countryside terms to extend
this existing site than to build a new school in the Grazeley area on a greenfield
countryside site. The proposals are considered to be an essential community facility in
the context of local need and Wokingham’s statutory educational duty, and as such the
proposals are considered to meet exception 6 of policy CP11.
11. Such additions to school are relatively common place within the Borough. The
building and associated facilities are considered to cause no significant character

60

impact on the school site especially given their acceptable positioning and design. It is
considered that the proposals are of an acceptable form in relation to its locality and
host site and as such the proposal complies with policies CP3 & CP11 of the
Wokingham Core Strategy.

Impact on Neighbours
12. In terms of increased noise and disturbance, the school is an established
educational facility with other teaching buildings situated closer to neighbouring sites
than the proposals. The new facilities are at least 60m from all residential dwellings and
all the new facilities are further away from residential properties than the existing
classrooms and play space. As such it is considered that no significant issues with
regards noise and disturbance are likely to arise.
13. Due to the separation distance involved it is considered that the proposals will not
lead to any significant loss of light, overbearing or overlooking to the detriment of
adjacent properties. As such the proposals are considered to accord with CP3 of the
Wokingham Borough Core Strategy with regards loss of light, overbearing and
overlooking.
14. It is recommended that an ‘hours of construction’ condition be utilised on the
scheme to avoid noise and loss of amenity at inappropriate times. Wokingham’s
standard hours of construction condition usually allows works to commence at 8am, it is
however recommended in this case that work is allowed to commence at 7am on
weekdays (but not at weekends). This is to reduce conflict and health and safety issues
from contractors and works deliveries arriving at a similar time to school children in the
mornings. It is considered by officers that avoiding this conflict should be given more
weight than the potential for slightly greater loss of neighbouring amenity during the
construction period from earlier construction noise (Condition 4).
Access and movement
Highway safety & access:
15. Grazeley School is located on Mereoak Lane and a footway is available along
Mereoak Lane on the school side of the carriageway. Mereoak Lane is a C class local
distributor road subject to a 40mph speed limit with a variable speed limit of 20mph in
place during school drop off and pick up times outside the school.
16. The scheme has been designed to provide a one-way entry and exit arrangement to
the new car park and this is considered acceptable. Appropriate signage and car park
layout markings will be required and are secured by conditions 12 and 13. The highway
Officer considers that the existing variable speed limit sign is unlikely to be affected by
the proposed ‘entry’ access. Each access is to be in the form of footway crossovers to
maintain pedestrian priority. The width is considered suitable for one-way operation and
will also cater for service/delivery vehicles.
17. Mereoak Lane is subject to a 20mph speed limit during school times and the
proposed ‘school keep clear’ markings will ensure appropriate visibility is maintained
from the exit. During other times of the day visibility splays of 2.4m x 120m have been
demonstrated. Due to the creation of additional parking it is not considered necessary to

61

provide double yellow lines on Mereoak Lane.
Traffic Impact and Sustainability.
18. The additional classrooms will lead to additional pupil trips. To cater for the increase
in parking demand a new car park and drop-off zone is proposed and this is considered
acceptable by the Highway Officer.
19. The school is also proposing a new School Travel Plan and although the location of
the school doesn’t lend itself well to sustainable modes of travel the Travel Plan will
focus on ways of improving this. Included within the proposal is new cycle parking and
detailed design of this is secured by condition 9. The level of cycle parking can be
reviewed as part of the Travel Plan. A new pedestrian footway has been indicated
adjacent to the ‘exit’ and pedestrian routes have been provided within the proposed car
park. Vehicle speeds in this location will be low.
Parking
20. Eleven car parking spaces are currently available for school staff. The proposed car
park will provide 25 staff parking spaces, 47 parent parking spaces and a drop-off zone
suitable for up to 6 vehicles at one time. The proposed level of parking is considered to
be acceptable and will offer a significant safety improvement over the current situation
(on-street parking). The parking is secured by condition 8.
Drainage:
21. The proposals will lead to an increase in built form on the site which would
potentially increase surface run off, as such it is recommended that the development
should incorporate Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS) and a condition is
recommended to this effect. (condition 5)
Ecology:
22. The site is located in a known bat foraging area, a great crested newt consultation
zone and has some vegetation of potential habitat interest on the site. Initial survey
work has been provided by the applicant which at this stage appears to be acceptable.
However some additional further survey work is required before any permission is
formally granted. This could not be undertaken previously as it was not within the
appropriate survey season. As such it is recommended that the committee reach a
resolution to delegate the application to the Head of Development Management to
approve, subject to no significant issues arising in the ecological surveys.

Provision of Playground/Playing field Space
23. Due to the increase in the site size as a result of the acquisition of the additional
land to the north the amount of formal play space and playing fields on the site is

62

increased (though there was some informal use of this area previously). The proposal
includes a new multi-use games area an improved pitch and as such the proposal is
considered to significantly increase the quality of the play facilities available at the
school.
Atomic Weapon Establishment Zone (AWE)
24. The site falls within the 3km of the Burghfield AWE. MDD Local Plan policy TB04
requires that potential impact upon safety with proximity of the AWE. Policy TB04 states
that schemes over certain thresholds require the potential for safety and emergency
response be considered. This application triggers these thresholds as it is likely to
increase visitors to the site by more than 50 people (though some of these visitors may
have been in the area in any case as the school catchment covers this zone). The
Office for Nuclear Regulation has been consulted on the proposal and it is hoped it’s
response will be received for inclusion in the members update.
Archaeology:
25. The Borough Archaeologist notes that Grazeley School is in a location within an
area of archaeological potential. In order to assess the potential for archaeology and the
impact of the development the Borough Archaeologist recommends that a condition
relating to archaeological investigation.
Mineral extraction consultation zone
26. The proposed development is located in an area of the Borough where extraction of
minerals could be possible. The Replacement Minerals Local Plan for Berkshire sets out
the approach to planning for minerals which states that Local Planning Authorities will
oppose development that would cause the sterilisation of minerals deposits, unless:- the mineral deposit is of no commercial interest
- it can be demonstrated that there is an overriding need for development
- there is likely to such strong environmental or other objection that extraction of
minerals would be unlikely to be permitted
27. There is evidence of historic mineral working in the wider area but there are no
operational mineral workings in or adjacent to the site at present and there are no
dormant mineral permissions or allocated preferred areas for future minerals working at
this site.
28. The site is currently a school and as such it is unlikely to ever be taken utilised for
mineral extraction. The proposal could affect access to potential mineral reserve if any
were on site, however the proposal is considered to have a negligible potential
significance to mineral provision in Berkshire and the modular classroom could be
removed meaning the impact is only temporary. Given the above constraints and the
demonstrated overriding need for the development it is considered that the proposal is
not unacceptable in terms of impact on mineral extraction.

63

CONCLUSION
The proposal consists of the erection of a new extension to the existing school to
provide three new classrooms, a cookery room and toilets. The proposal also includes
new external works to provide car parking, a multi use games area, a football pitch and
play area.
Grazeley Parochial Primary School normally only takes in a half form of entry in each
year. The school is intended to be extended to accommodate a full single form of entry
at all age groups. The primary school needs to provide an extension to provide
additional teaching accommodation as the school does not have enough teaching
space to accommodate the extra pupils and meet current educational standards.
The proposal has received no letters of objection from local residents. The scheme is
recommended for approval as it is considered to provide much needed educational
spaces and is considered compliant with the development plan.

CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Development
0118 974 6445
Management

Email
development.control@wokingham.gov.uk

64

65

66

67

68

Agenda Item 134.
Development
Management
Ref No
F/2014/2611

No weeks on Parish
day
of
committee
24/13
Winnersh

Ward

Listed by:

Winnersh

Wokingham
Housing
Limited
application

Applicant
Location

Wokingham Housing Limited
Land between Grovelands Avenue Workshops Postcode RG41 5LD
Grovelands Park Winnersh
Proposal
Proposed erection of residential development of 6 no. two bedroom
dwellings with associated external works
Type
Full
PS Category 7
Officer
Cris Lancaster
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
The proposal is a full application for the development of site to provide six dwellings with
associated external works.
The site is within Winnersh which is identified in Policy CP9 of the adopted Core
Strategy as a Major Development Location which is considered to be sustainable in
terms of access to services, facilities and public transport.
The 0.2 hectare site is located between a mobile home park and commercial units in
Grovelands Avenue. Vehicular and pedestrian access will by via the internal road which
serves the mobile home park.
The application has attracted objections, principally in respect of the means of access
which passes through the mobile home site. Objectors have indicated that a better
access would be via the commercial development on Grovelands Avenue
The proposals are considered to be acceptable in principle. However, the Council’s
Ecologist has recommended submission of a reptile survey of the site by a suitably
trained ecologist (reptile surveys can only ordinarily be undertaken during April-May or
September). If reptiles are found to be present on the site then a reptile mitigation
strategy will also be required.
In addition, the Councils’ Highways Officer has requested submission of a drawing
showing details of how a refuse vehicle will access the site.
It is therefore recommended that subject to submission of an appropriate reptile survey
and a drawing showing access for refuse vehicles and in the absence of any adverse
issues arising and appropriate mitigation being secured, planning permission can be
granted.

69

In the event that reptiles are found on the site and trans-location or on-site mitigation
cannot be achieved and satisfactory resolution of the refuse servicing matter, it is
recommended that the Head of Development Management to be authorised to refuse
the application for reasons to be prepared.
The application is before the Committee as it is a development by Wokingham Housing
Limited which is the limited company providing social housing on behalf of Wokingham
Borough Council.

PLANNING STATUS






Major settlement area
Contaminated Land Zone
Contaminated Land Consultation Zone
Minerals Consultation Zone
Wind Turbine Consultation Zone (BAA consultation required)

RECOMMENDATION
A)
That the Planning Committee authorises the GRANT OF PLANNING
PERMISSION by the Head of Development subject to submission of an appropriate
reptile survey and in the absence of any adverse issues arising and appropriate
mitigation being secured and subject to the conditions out below:
B)
That in the event that reptiles are found on the site and trans-location or on-site
mitigation cannot be achieved the Head of Development Management to be authorised
to refuse the application for reasons to be prepared
C) That in the event of the refuse servicing for the site not being resolved to the
satisfaction of the Highway Officer, that the Head of Development Management to be
authorised to refuse the application for reasons to be prepared
Conditions:
1.
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended
by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
2.
Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, samples and details of
the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the buildings and
all hardstandings shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is satisfactory.
Relevant policies: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3.
3.

This permission is in respect of the following drawings:

70

Drawing Title
Drawing No.
Site and Location Plan
6360:14:1
Proposed
Plans
and 6360:14:2
Elevations

Revision

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the application
form and associated details hereby approved.
4. No development shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved in
writing a scheme of landscaping which shall specify species, planting sizes, spacing
and numbers of trees/shrubs to be planted. The works approved shall be carried out in
the first planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of buildings. Any trees
or plants which, within a period of 5 years from the date of planting, die, are removed or
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season
with others of similar size or species
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity. Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy
policy CP3 and MDD Policy TB21
5. No trees or hedges within the site which are shown to be retained shall be felled,
uprooted, wilfully damaged or destroyed, cut back in any way or removed without
previous written consent of the Local Planning Authority; any trees, shrubs or hedges
removed without consent or dying or being severely damaged or becoming seriously
diseased within 5 years from the completion of the development hereby permitted shall
be replaced with trees, shrubs or hedge plants of similar size and species unless the
Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that the development is being
carried out of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of amenity
value to the area, in the interests of visual amenity. Relevant policies: NPPF, Core
Strategy policy CP3 and MDD Policy TB21
6. a) No development or other operation shall commence on site until a scheme which
provides for the retention and protection of trees, shrubs and hedges growing on or
adjacent the site in accordance with BS5837:2012 has been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority (The Approved Scheme); the tree protection
measures approved shall be implemented in complete accordance with the Approved
Scheme for the duration of the development (including unless provided by the Approved
Scheme) demolition, all site preparation work, tree felling, tree pruning, demolition
works, soil moving, temporary access, construction and or widening or any other
operation involving use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery;
b) No development (including tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil moving,
temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation involving the use
of motor vehicles or construction machinery) shall commence until the Local Planning
Authority has been provided (by way of a written notice) with a period of no less than 7
working days to inspect the implementation of the measures identified in the Approved
Scheme on-site;
c) No excavation for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of vehicles,
deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of liquids shall take

71

place within an area designated as being fenced off or otherwise protected in the
Approved Scheme;
d) The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall not be
moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including external works
have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials removed
from the site, unless the prior approval of the local planning authority has first been
sought and obtained
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that the development is being
carried out of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of amenity
value to the area, in the interests of visual amenity. Relevant policies: NPPF, Core
Strategy policy CP3 and MDD Policy TB21
7. No works related to the development hereby approved, including works of demolition
or preparation prior to building operations, shall take place other than between the
hours of 8.00am and 6.00pm Monday to Friday and 8.00am to 13.00pm on Saturdays
and at no time on Sundays or Bank or National Holidays unless otherwise agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority
Reason: To safeguard amenity of neighbouring properties. Relevant policies: NPPF,
Core Strategy Policies CP1 and CP3

8. No deliveries in connection with implementation of this development shall be
accepted or dispatched outside the hours of 8:00a.m. and 7:00p.m. Monday to Friday
and 8:00 a.m. to 1.00p.m on Saturday and at no time on Sundays or bank or national
Holidays.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of neighbouring occupiers
9. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced details of all boundary
treatments shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the first occupation of
the development or phased as agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
scheme shall be maintained in the approved form so long as the development remains
on the site.
Reason: To safeguard amenity and highway safety. Relevant policies: NPPF, Core
Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6
11. No development shall take place until a measured survey of the site and a plan
prepared to scale of not less than 1:500 showing details of proposed finished ground
levels in relation to a fixed datum point) and finished floor levels shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the approved scheme shall
be fully implemented prior to the occupation of the building
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory form of development relative to surrounding
buildings and landscape. Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy policies CP1 and
CP3
12. No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement has been

72

submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved
Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The Statement shall
provide for:
i) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
ii) loading and unloading of plant and materials;
iii) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
iv) measures to prevent the deposit of materials on the highway and details of wheel
washing facilities;
v) measures to inform local residents of commencement of development by letter and
provide appropriate contact details for residents to contact the developer if they have
concerns or issues
Reason: In the interests of highway safety, safety and convenience and to ensure that
neighbourhood amenity is preserved. Relevant policies: Core Strategy policies CP3
and CP6
13. No part of the building hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the vehicle
parking spaces have been provided in accordance with the approved plans.
a) The vehicle parking spaces shall be permanently retained and remain available
for the parking of vehicles at all times: and
b) The un-adopted spaces shall remain as such at all times and shall not be
allocated to any individual resident or household without the prior written
approval of the Local Planning Authority
Reason: To ensure adequate on-site parking provision in the interests of highway
safety, convenience and amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 and
CP6 and MDD Local Plan policy CC07
14. The cycle storage/parking shall be implemented in accordance with the approved
drawings before occupation of the development hereby permitted and shall be
permanently retained in the approved form for the parking of bicycles and used for no
other purpose.
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities are
provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant policy:
NPPF Section 4 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6
and MDD Local Plan policy CC07.
15. Prior to development of the site, an assessment shall be carried out to determine
whether any harmful materials are present and where such materials are found then
measures shall be taken to prevent such materials from contaminating the land to be
redeveloped. No building shall be occupied until a report detailing the assessment and
where necessary mitigation measures undertaken, has been submitted to and approved
in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure any contamination on the site is remedied to protect the
existing/proposed occupants of the application site and adjacent land. Relevant policy:
NPPF, Core Strategy policy CP3
16. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority.

73

Any subsequent investigation/remedial/protective works deemed necessary by the LPA
shall be carried out to agreed timescales and approved by the LPA in writing. If no
contamination is encountered during the development, a letter confirming this fact shall
be submitted to the LPA upon completion of the development.
Reason: To ensure any contamination on the site is remedied to protect the
existing/proposed occupants of the application site and adjacent land. Relevant policy:
NPPF, Core Strategy policy CP3
17. No development shall take place within the application area until the applicant has
secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological works, in accordance
with a written scheme of investigation, which has been submitted by the applicant and
approved by the Planning Authority.
Reason: The site lies within an area of archaeological potential; the condition will ensure
the satisfactory mitigation of any impacts upon buried archaeological remains in
accordance with the NPPF
18. No development shall take place until the Employment Skills Plan has been
implemented in full in accordance with the details submitted.
Reason: In the interests of securing sustainable local employment. The development is
in a rural location and its benefits to local employment help to justify the development.
Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy CP15, MDD Local Plan Policy TB12.
19. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (as amended) (or any Order revoking and reenacting that Order with or without modification) no buildings, extensions, or alterations
permitted by Classes A, B, C, D and E of Part 1 of the Second Schedule of the 1995
Order shall be carried out without the written approval of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring properties,
preserve the character of the settlement and to ensure proper planning of the area.
Plots are generally at or around the minimum separation distances and amenity space
sizes so the Local Planning Authority wishes to assess the potential impact of such
development.
Relevant policies: NPPF, Core Strategy Policy CP1, CP3 and the
guidance set out in the adopted Borough Design Guide.
20. No development shall take place until details of the implementation; maintenance
and management of a sustainable drainage scheme have been submitted to and
approved by the local planning authority. This shall include details of how prospective
owners will be informed of the presence of SUDS structures in their Deed of Sales and
what measures will be incorporated to ensure that they are not modified in any way and
are maintained in perpetuity. The scheme shall be implemented and thereafter
managed and retained in accordance with the approved details. Those details shall
include:
i.
a timetable for its implementation, and
ii.
a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which
shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker,
or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable drainage scheme
throughout its lifetime.

74

Reason: To ensure that drainage measures are managed and maintained appropriately.
Relevant Policies: NPPF, Core Strategy Policy CP3 and MDD Local Plan policies CC09
and CC10.
21. None of the dwellings shall be occupied until works for the disposal of sewage have
been provided on the site to serve the development hereby permitted, in accordance
with details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority in
consultation with the drainage authority.
Reason: To ensure that drainage measures are managed and maintained appropriately.
Relevant Policies: NPPF, Core Strategy Policy CP3 and MDD Local Plan policies CC09
and CC10.
22. SUCH CONDITION(S) AS REQUIRED FOLLOWING RECEIPT OF REPTILE
REPORT AND ADDITIONAL REFUSE SERVICE DRAWING
Informatives:
1.The applicants’ attention is drawn to the conditions of this decision which must be
complied with prior to commencement of development.
Commencement of
development without complying with conditions may place the works outside of the
development permitted by this decision and may be liable to enforcement action. The
information must be formally submitted to the Council in writing together with the
relevant fee. Once the details have been approved in writing the development shall be
carried out only in accordance with those details.
2.The applicant is reminded that this permission does not authorise any off-site highway
or other works and site access to the public highway. A separate legal agreement
(Minor Works Agreement) made with the Council under s184/278 of the Highways Act
1980 is required. No work within or affecting the public highway shall commence until
the agreement has been concluded and the Council, as local highway authority, has
approved all construction and installation details together including with a programme of
works.
3. Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m head
(approx 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves Thames
Waters pipes. The developer should take account of this minimum pressure in the
design of the proposed development
4. The applicant is advised that the scheme would be Liable to the Community
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Schedule which came into effect on 6 th April 2015. Therefore,
this scheme will be liable to pay the Council's CIL upon commencement of
development. Whilst the development may be eligible for social housing relief, the onus
is on an applicant to make a claim to the Charging Authority.

PLANNING HISTORY
None relevant

SUMMARY INFORMATION

75

Site Area
Existing units
Proposed units
Number of bedrooms per unit
Proposed density - dwellings/hectare
Proposed density- habitable rooms/hectare
Existing density – dwellings/hectare
Existing density of area – dwellings/hectare
Number of affordable units proposed
Previous land use
Public Open Space proposed
Existing parking spaces
Proposed parking spaces

0.2ha
0
6
12
30dph
90hrph
N/A
N/A
6
Undeveloped scrub land
N/A
N/A
12 spaces (2 per unit)

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Winnersh
Parish Object on grounds that the development is:
Council
1. Overbearing
2. Out of character
3. Overdevelopment
Planning Policy

Highways

Planning Policy whilst not formally objecting to the proposal,
commented that the site would prevent the delivery of an
allocated employment site. Offered advice on employment
policies and current employment floor space in the Borough.
Highway Safety & Road Design
It is proposed to access the site via Grovelands Avenue.
Although this is not adopted it is within the ownership of the
Council (applicant) and I have no objection to it serving an
additional 6 dwellings.
Due to the number of units satisfied with the proposed shared
surface arrangement which will start from the point the footway
ends on Grovelands Park. The access is 4.8m wide with
additional width through the bends within the site.
Although a turning head and refuse store is shown a revised plan
is required showing how a refuse vehicle will service the site.
(OFFICER NOTE: An additional plan has been requested)
The road will need to be constructed to a suitable specification.
Traffic Impact
The traffic impact associated with 6 dwellings is not considered
significant and could be accommodated safely on the existing
highway network. However, it would add to the cumulative impact
of development in the area and therefore could be expected to
contribute in accordance with the Council’s policies.
Parking
The level of parking has been reviewed against the Council’s

76

parking guidance and is considered acceptable in this instance.
The proposed visitor parking will need to remain unallocated
(covered by condition).

Environmental
Health
Ecology

Landscape

Drainage
Housing

Building Control
Berkshire
Archaeology

Waste Services
Thames Water

Sustainability
Cycle storage has been indicated for each dwelling. Detailed
design is required by condition.
No objection subject to landfill gas and contamination conditions
(Conditions 15 & 16)
Objects to application on grounds that the applicant has supplied
insufficient information in order to assess the impact of reptiles.
(Officer Note: The applicant has commissioned a reptile survey.
These can only take place between April-May or September. The
recommendation allows for the survey to be completed)
Recommends standard landscape conditions but stresses that
particular attention should be paid to the frontage in consideration
of details to be submitted (Conditions 4-6)
No comments
The development is 100% affordable housing. The development
should be built to Homes and Community Agency Design and
Quality Standards and meet the space standards set out in Policy
TB07 of the MDD Local Plan. They should also be built to meet
the Lifetime Homes Standard.
No comments
There are potential archaeological implications associated with
this application.
Although some previous archaeological work within the area of
the proposed development has shown disturbance, work at land
adjacent to Winnersh Primary School produced multiperiod
find spots, which together with two Bronze Age cremation urns
recorded a short distance to the west of the site illustrates that
there is potential for buried remains to survive in the area.
Therefore recommends that a condition requiring a scheme of
works is attached to any planning consent granted to secure a
programme of archaeological works. (Condition 17)
No comments
Waste Comments
Recommends informatives
Surface Water Drainage
Recommends informatives
Sewerage infrastructure capacity
No objections

Local Member

Water Comments
No objections and recommends informative
.
Comments on narrowness of mobile home park estate but
recognises limited traffic associated with this development

77

REPRESENTATIONS
Nine letters of representation have been received raising the following planning issues:
The access is via a narrow road through
the caravan park – raising highway safety
and general access and parking concerns
Overlooking from the new houses
resulting in loss of privacy
Harm to character of area
Possible damage to sewage pipes during
construction
The caravan site is built on landfill and
concerns are raised about subsidence as
a result of this development

Section 25-27

Sections 19-21
Sections 13-18
Not a planning matter but responsibility of
developer and statutory undertakers
Not a planning matter.
However,
conditions 15-16 respond to issues of
potential contamination associated with
landfill

APPLICANTS POINTS
Following pre-application discussions, all recommendations arising were incorporated:
 The number of dwellings has been reduced from 7 to 6.
 The design of the dwellings is low rise 1½ storey, respectful of the theme of
adjacent development.
 The parking arrangement has been updated in order to reduce the amount of
hard landscaping at the site frontage.
 Garden sheds have been provided in order to promote alternative methods of
transport through the provision of secure cycle storage.
 The rear garden amenity areas meet the Council’s standards
The application is accompanied by an acoustic report which demonstrates that the
development will result in acceptable levels of noise for occupiers from both an internal
and external perspective.
The proposal is 100% affordable development.

PLANNING POLICY
National policies:
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Policy (NPPG)
Wokingham Borough Local Development Framework
Core Strategy (Core Strategy)
CP1 – Sustainable development
CP2 – Inclusive communities
CP3 – General Principle for development
CP4 – Infrastructure Requirements
CP5 – Housing mix, density and affordability

78

CP6 – Managing Travel Demand
CP7 – Biodiversity
CP8 – Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
CP9 – Scale and location of development proposals
CP10 – Improvements to Strategic Transport Network
CP17 – Housing delivery
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Document (MDD Local Plan)
Cross Cutting Policies:
CC01 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CC02 – Development Limits
CC03 – Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping
CC04 – Sustainable Design and Construction
CC05 – Renewable energy and decentralised energy networks
CC06 – Noise
CC07 – Parking
CC09 – Development and Flood Risk
CC10 – Sustainable Drainage
Topic Based Policies:
TB05 – Housing Mix
TB07 - Internal Space Standards
TB09 – Residential Development for vulnerable groups
TB21 – Landscape Character
TB23 – Biodiversity and development
SAL07 - Sites within Development Limits allocated for employment/commercial development
Other guidance
Borough Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (Section 4)
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD
Affordable Housing SPD
Planning Advice Note (Infrastructure Impact Mitigation Contributions for New
Development)

PLANNING ISSUES
Principle of Development
1. This is a full application and proposes redevelopment of site to provide 6 no. twostorey two-bedroom dwellings in the form of three blocks of two semi-detached units.
Access is via the estate road for the Grovelands Avenue Caravan Park.
2. The site is within Winnersh which is identified in Policy CP9 of the adopted Core
Major Development Location where development is acceptable in principle.
3.

The

main

planning

issues

79

are

considered

to

be:









Impact on local character;
Impact on residential amenity;
Impact on highway safety;
Impact on affordable housing provision
Impact on biodiversity
Loss of employment land
CIL;

4. The application has attracted local objections, principally in respect of access through
the caravan park but also detailed matters which are covered in this report.
5. The adopted Core Strategy policy CP3 provides general principles for all
development, with the primary remit that development should be appropriate in terms of
scale of activity, mass, layout, built form, height, materials and character to the area
together with a high quality of design without detriment to the amenities of adjoining
land users including open spaces or occupiers and their quality of life.
Affordable housing provision
6. The development is proposed to be 100% affordable housing. This is significantly in
excess of the minimum requirements of Core Strategy Policy CP5 and para 159 of the
NPPF encourages the provision of affordable housing. It is considered that the
development being 100% affordable adds significant weight in favour of the
development.
Loss of potential employment land
7. The site is not within a Core Employment Area but is allocated under Policy SAL07 of
the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan for the delivery of around 1,300m2 of
floorspace for Class B1 uses (site reference W1125). As such there is a presumption in
favour of the development of the site for employment purposes.
8. The NPPF states: “planning policies should avoid the long term protection of sites
allocated for employment use where there is no reasonable prospect of a site being
used for that purpose. Land allocations should be regularly reviewed. Where there is no
reasonable prospect for a site being used for the allocated employment use,
applications for alternative uses of land or buildings should be treated on their merits
having regard to market signals and the relative need for different land uses to support
sustainable local communities”.
9. The site is currently undeveloped and as such there is no loss of employment
floorspace. There are currently no extant planning permissions for employment uses on
the site. It is considered that there is some conflict with policy SAL07 in that the
development will mean that the site will be unavailable for the delivery of employment
use space. The site is however within settlement limits and policy SAL07 does not
preclude the use of the site for other purposes.
10. The Employment Land Monitoring Report for April 2013 – March 2014 demonstrates
that there has been a net gain of 3,649sqm of B use floor space in the Borough since
1st April 2006. The report also shows that the borough has 88,099m² of extant
permissions for B use floorspace as of 1 April 2014, which could be completed in the

80

next six years based on historic completion rates, but the likelihood of this rate of
completion being realised is uncertain. Therefore if the proposal is to be given
permission, this would lead to a loss of the potential delivery of 1,300sqm of
employment land floorspace. The loss of potential employment space adds some
weight against the proposal.
11. Whilst weight against the proposal is fairly limited as the site is within settlement and
neither policy SAL07 or policy CP15 preclude the use of development of undeveloped
sites for other purposes.
Balancing loss of potential employment space against issues in favour
12. The weight against the proposal by loss of potential employment space is
considered to be outweighed/mitigated for by the significant overprovision of Affordable
housing at the site.
Impact on local character
13. The Council’s policies support development only where it makes a positive
contribution to the character of the area. In this regard design guidelines are set out in
the Borough Design Guide SPD. Section 2 deals with general principles and Section 4
residential development
14. The NPPF requires that proposed dwellings should be well integrated with, and
complement local buildings in relation to scale, density, layout and access. Policy CP3
of the Core Strategy outlines that development should be appropriate to the surrounding
street scene and without detriment to the amenity of neighbouring residents. Planning
policy overall encourages character led development. The Borough Design Guide
provides substantial advice on layout best practice.
15. The site is between the caravan park and the industrial park. As such it does not
directly relate to either and the development forms a transition between the two areas.
As such a comparison between relative densities or scale of development does little to
inform the impact on the character of the area. In this regard, the development forms a
character area in its own right. The resultant density will be 30dph which is comparable
with the development of the Strategic Development Locations (SDL) where the
Supplementary Planning Documents indicate a density of between 30 and 35dph.
16. A key consideration for the layout is the presence of commercial units adjoining the
site to the west and north. The dwellings have been orientated to back onto the
industrial site. There are gardens of 11 metres or more which accord with the guidance
in the adopted Borough Design Guide.
17. The frontage faces towards the access to the caravan park. Whilst the three blocks
are repeated, the overall spacing and opportunity for landscaping will assist in creating
a character area in its own right and with the transition to the caravan park
18. The scheme is for two-storey development. Whilst not typical of the immediate area
which is characterised by mobile homes and large industrial sheds, the form of
development is typical of the wider Winnersh area. During pre-application discussions
the development was reduced from 7 to 6 units. The appearance and layout of the
dwellings is considered to be acceptable and to be acceptable in the context of local

81

character and as such compliance with Core Strategy Policy CP3 is achieved.
Impact on residential amenity
19. There is strong intervening screening including a 1.1 metre concrete retaining wall
and hedging. To the south is residential development on Grovelands Avenue and the
first four units of the caravan park. However, there is strong intervening screening the
retention of which to an appropriate level can be controlled by condition. The site is
accessed from the east which will entail opening up of this part of the site where there is
currently a hedgerow. However, the development both allows for retention of screening
and supplementary planting.
20. The Borough Design Guide sets out minimum recommended separation distances
between dwellings in order to preserve amenity and character. The recommended
distances are as follows:
•
•
•
•

Front to front across street 10m
Rear to rear of dwellings 22m
Flank wall to boundary 1m
Flank wall to rear of dwelling 12m

21. All the dwellings meet or exceed this standard. There is no direct overlooking and it
is considered that no loss of residential amenity will result.
Noise and disturbance
22. As the site adjoins the Grovelands Industrial Park, the applicant commissioned an
acoustic report.
This indicates that the noise levels associated with the adjoining
development will not have an adverse impact on the proposed development. The
Environmental Health Officer does not recommend any noise conditions associated with
external impacts, although conditions are recommended in respect of construction in
order to protect existing residential amenities (Conditions 15-16)
Amenity space and internal space standards
23. The Borough Design Guide establishes requirements for private amenity space.
Amenity space should generally have a ‘roughly rectangular shape’ and good access to
sunlight, with usable garden of at least 11 metres in depth. The development follows
this approach and the level of amenity space is proposed accords with Borough
standards, with some dwellings substantially exceeding the minimum standard.
Coupled with the substantial area of open space which is within two or three minutes’
walk of all properties, it is considered that this element of the proposals is acceptable.
24. MDD policy TB07 seeks to achieve minimum internal space standards in new
dwellings. This requirement is reflected in the guidance in Section 4 of the Borough
Design Guide. These standards have been met or exceeded on all units.
Highways and Parking
25. The Highways Officer has indicated that the proposed to access the site via
Grovelands Avenue is not adopted but it is within the ownership of the Council and has
no objection to it serving an additional 6 dwellings. Due to the number of units the officer

82

is satisfied with the proposed shared surface arrangement which will start from the point
the footway ends on Grovelands Park. The access is 4.8m wide with additional width
through the bends within the site. Although a turning head and refuse store has been
indicated, further details to demonstrate that access for refuse vehicles are required.
(Officers Note The applicant has been requested to provide this.)
26. The traffic impact associated with six dwellings is not considered to be very
significant and could be accommodated safely on the existing highway network.
However, it would add to the cumulative impact of development in the area however the
development would not have a significant impact and this would certainly not be enough
to warrant refusal. The proposed traffic impact is also likely to be significantly lower than
any proposed employment use.
27. Two parking spaces are provided for each 2-bed dwelling plus an additional two
unallocated spaces. The level of parking has been reviewed against the Council’s
parking guidance and is considered acceptable in this instance. The proposed visitor
parking will need to remain unallocated (Conditions 12-14)
Sustainable Design and Construction
28. Core Strategy Policy CP1 and the MDD Local Plan policy CC05 requires new
development to contribute towards the goal of achieving zero carbon development by
including on-site renewable energy features and minimising energy and water
consumption. These requirements are amplified in the Council’s adopted Sustainable
Design and Construction SPD and accompanying Developer’s Guide. Condition 17 is
recommended to ensure that the buildings are built to the appropriate standard.
Biodiversity
29. The Council’s Ecologist has considered the implications of this application against
EC Habitats Directive 1992 and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2010. The applicant commissioned a survey and whilst the Ecologist has no overall
objections, a reptile survey has been requested.
Due to the need for this to be
undertaken in April/May or September, the recommendation is that the matter is
delegated to the Head of Development to approve the development subject to the
production of satisfactory ecological information (and relevant conditions).
Infrastructure Mitigation
30. The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule was adopted on 6 th
April 2015. CIL is a land charge that is payable at commencement of works.
31. This Council charges CIL on residential developments in the Rest of the Borough *
at a rate of £365 per square metre.
* ‘Rest of the Borough’ is the remainder of the Borough excluding the Strategic
Development Locations (SDLs)
32. There are a number of infrastructure projects which would be funded through CIL
(The Regulation 123 list) which would include open space, local and strategic transport
projects, libraries, schools etc. Unlike the former Section 106 regime for seeking
infrastructure, these projects need not be directly related to the development proposal.

83

33. The current proposal is CIL liable. Whilst the applicant may be eligible for social
housing relief the onus is on the applicant to make a claim. An informative advising of
the applicant of CIL liability is recommended.
CONCLUSION
This is a full application and proposes redevelopment of site to provide six dwellings all
in the form of affordable housing, hard and soft landscaping, open space, parking
provision and associated infrastructure. The principle means of access is via the
existing caravan park
The site is within Winnersh which identified in Policy CP9 of the adopted Core Strategy
as a Major Development Location where development is acceptable in principle. The
provision of additional affordable housing is considered on balance to offset the loss of
potential employment land.
The application has attracted objections particularly in terms of traffic impacts and
detailed matters such as loss of privacy
It is recommended that subject to no adverse issues arising as a result of the reptile
survey or submission of a refuse servicing drawing, that planning permission can be
granted. In the event of any adverse issues arising, the recommendation seeks
authority for the Head of Development to refuse the application for reasons to be
prepared.
CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services

84

85

86

87

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 135.
Development
Management
Ref No
F/2015/0073

No weeks on
day of
committee
16/8

Parish

Ward

Listed by:

Shinfield

Shinfield
North

Scheme of delegation
– Wokingham Borough
Council application

Applicant
Location
Proposal

Wokingham Housing Limited
Land adjacent to 1 Anson Walk, Shinfield
Postcode RG2 8JU
Proposed erection of 2no two bed and 2no one bed flats with associated
parking and landscaping.
Type
Minor – Dwellings 1-9
PS Category 13
Officer
Graham Vaughan
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 29th April 2015
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
The application site is within settlement, located adjacent to the Wokingham Borough
Council boundary. The site is has little amenity value being a small enclosed area of
unused space as well as parking for local residents. The site is surrounded by
residential development and therefore the proposal of further residential properties is
considered to accord with Local Plan policy.
The application itself is for the erection of 4 flats with associated parking and amenity
space. The parking currently on the site would be replaced and the access from Anson
Crescent would remain. It is considered that the proposal represents a good use of the
site and would contribute to the Borough’s housing land supply. Furthermore, the
proposal would have an acceptable impact on the character of the area and no harmful
impact on neighbouring properties would occur. Therefore, the scheme is compliant with
the development plan and is recommended for conditional approval.
PLANNING STATUS
 Major development location
 Public Open Space
 Ancient Woodland consultation zone
 Special Protection Area – 7 km
 Groundwater zone – 3
 Nuclear consultation zone
RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION by the
subject to the following:
A. Prior completion of a signed unilateral undertaking as outlined in this
report to provide for affordable housing.
B. The Head of Development Management to be authorised to refuse the
application in the event of the s.106 agreement not being completed within

89

three months of the date of the decision.
C. Conditions and informatives:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
2. This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings
numbered ‘6391:14:1 Rev G’ and ‘6391:14:2 Rev A’ received by the local
planning authority on 8th May 2014 and the revised plans on 14th January 2015.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is
carried out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby
approved.
3. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, samples and details of
the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
building/s shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. Development shall not be carried out other than in
accordance with the so-approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
4. Prior to the commencement of the development, full details of both hard and soft
landscape proposals shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. These details shall include, as appropriate, proposed finished
floor levels or contours, means of enclosure, car parking layouts, other vehicle
and pedestrian access and circulation areas, hard surfacing materials and minor
artefacts and structure (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage
units, signs, lighting, external services, etc). Soft landscaping details shall include
planting plan, specification (including cultivation and other operations associated
with plant and grass establishment), schedules of plants, noting species, planting
sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate, and implementation
timetable.
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details prior to the occupation of any part of the development or in
accordance with a timetable approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years after planting, are
removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the
next planting season with others of species, size and number as originally
approved and permanently retained.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy
CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
5. a) No development or other operation shall commence on site until a scheme
which provides for the retention and protection of trees, shrubs and hedges
growing on or adjacent the site in accordance with BS5837: 2012 has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority (the
Approved Scheme); the tree protection measures approved shall be

90

implemented in complete accordance with the Approved Scheme for the duration
of the development (including, unless otherwise provided by the Approved
Scheme) demolition, all site preparation work, tree felling, tree pruning,
demolition works, soil moving, temporary access construction and or widening or
any other operation involving use of motorised vehicles or construction
machinery.
b) No development (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil
moving, temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation
involving use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery) shall commence
until the local planning authority has been provided (by way of a written notice)
with a period of no less than 7 working days to inspect the implementation of the
measures identified in the Approved Scheme on-site.
c) No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of
vehicles, deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of
liquids shall take place within an area designated as being fenced off or
otherwise protected in the Approved Scheme.
d) The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall not
be moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including external
works have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials
removed from the site, unless the prior approval of the local planning authority
has first been sought and obtained.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that the development is
being carried out of trees shrubs or hedges growing within or adjacent to the site
which are of amenity value to the area, and to allow for verification by the local
planning authority that the necessary measures are in place before development
and other works commence Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
6. Prior to the commencement of the development a landscape management plan,
including long term design objectives, management responsibilities, timescales
and maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, other than privately owned,
domestic gardens, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The landscape management plan shall be carried out as
approved.
Reason: In order to ensure that provision is made to allow satisfactory
maintenance of the landscaping hereby approved. Relevant policy: Core Strategy
policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and
TB21
7. Prior to the demolition of the existing buildings and structures and prior to
development of the site, an assessment shall be carried out to determine
whether any harmful materials are present and where such materials are found
then measures shall be taken to prevent such materials from contaminating the
land to be redeveloped. No building shall be occupied until a report detailing the
assessment and where necessary mitigation measures undertaken, has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure any contamination on the site is remedied to protect the
existing/proposed occupants of the application site and adjacent land. Relevant

91

Policy: Core Strategy Policy CP3
8. No development shall commence until the off-site works comprising junction
improvements at Anson Crescent including new 5m junction radii and widening
the access road to 4.8m for a distance of 8m have been provided in accordance
with construction details to be submitted and approved by the LPA.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy:
Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
9. No other development of the site as hereby approved shall take place until the
access has been constructed in accordance with the approved plans.
Reason: To ensure adequate access into the site for vehicles, plant and
deliveries associated with the development in the interests of highway safety and
convenience. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6.
10. No part of any building(s) hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the
vehicle parking and turning space has been provided in accordance with the
approved plans. The vehicle parking and turning space shall be retained and
maintained in accordance with the approved details and the parking space shall
remain available for the parking of vehicles at all times and the turning space
shall not be used for any other purpose other than vehicle turning.
Reason: To provide adequate off-street vehicle parking and turning space and to
allow vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward gear in the interests of road
safety and convenience and providing a functional, accessible and safe
development and in the interests of amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy
policies CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy
CC07.
11. No building shall be occupied until secure and covered parking for cycles has
been provided in accordance with the approved drawing(s)/details. The cycle
parking/ storage shall be permanently so-retained for the parking of bicycles and
used for no other purpose.
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities
are provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant
policy: NPPF Section 4 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies CP1,
CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.
12. No trees, shrubs or hedges within the site which are shown as being retained on
the approved plans shall be felled, uprooted wilfully damaged or destroyed, cut
back in any way or removed without previous written consent of the local
planning authority; any trees, shrubs or hedges removed without consent or
dying or being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years
from the completion of the development hereby permitted shall be replaced with
trees, shrubs or hedge plants of similar size and species unless the local
planning authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that development is being
carried out, of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of
amenity value to the area. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
13. The dwellings shall achieve Code Level 4 in accordance with the requirements of
the Code for Sustainable Homes: Technical Guide [or such national measure of

92

sustainability for house design that replaces that scheme]. No dwelling shall be
occupied until a Final Code Certificate has been issued for it by an accredited
assessor certifying that Code Level 4 has been achieved.
Reason: To ensure developments contribute to sustainable development.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change,
Flooding and Coastal Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC04
Informatives
1. The applicant is reminded that this approval is granted subject to conditions
which must be complied with prior to the development starting on site.
Commencement of the development without complying with the precommencement requirements may be outside the terms of this permission and
liable to enforcement action. The information required should be formally
submitted to the Council for consideration with the relevant fee. Once the details
have been approved in writing the development should be carried out only in
accordance with those details. If this is not clear please contact the case officer
to discuss.
2. This permission should be read in conjunction with the legal agreement under
section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act dated [Insert appropriate
date], the obligations in which relate to this development.
3. Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m
head (approx 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves
Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take account of this minimum
pressure in the design of the proposed development.
4. The development hereby permitted is liable to pay the Community Infrastructure
Levy. The Liability Notice issued by Wokingham Borough Council will state the
current chargeable amount. A revised Liability Notice will be issued if this amount
changes. Anyone can formally assume liability to pay, but if no one does so then
liability will rest with the landowner. There are certain legal requirements that
must be complied with. For instance, whoever will pay the levy must submit an
Assumption of Liability form and a Commencement Notice to Wokingham
Borough Council prior to commencement of development. For more information
see - http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/planning/developers/cil/cil-processes/
PLANNING HISTORY
No relevant history
SUMMARY INFORMATION
Site Area
Existing units
Proposed units
Existing use
Existing parking spaces
Proposed parking spaces

0.05 hectares
0
4
Area of grassland currently used as an area for rubbish
adjacent to an area of parking
5
8

CONSULTATION RESPONSES
Thames Water
No objection subject to informative (3)

93

Environment Agency
Berkshire Wildlife Trust
Woodland Trust
Forestry Commission
Highways
Biodiversity
Tree and Landscape
Environmental Health
Waste Services
Drainage
Shinfield Parish Council

Local Members

No objection
No comments received
No comments received
No comments received
No objection subject to conditions (8 – 11)
No objection
No objection subject to conditions (4 - 6 and 12)
No objection subject to condition (7)
No comments received
No objection subject to condition
Welcome additional social housing but concerned over the
level of provision of amenity space, noise levels, the
amenity space being located at the front of the proposed
buildings alongside the main road and the ridge height of
the proposal
No comments received

REPRESENTATIONS
2 letters of support received stating that the proposal would improve the area as it is
currently used to dump rubbish
APPLICANTS POINTS
 The scheme would contribute to the housing stock and provide affordable
housing
 The site is brownfield
 All standards are met and the scheme provides appropriate access and parking
PLANNING POLICY
National Policy

NPPF

National Planning Policy Framework

Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010

CP1

Sustainable Development

CP3

General Principles for Development

CP4

Infrastructure Requirements

CP5

Housing mix, Density and Affordability

CP6

Managing Travel Demand

CP7

Biodiversity

CP9

Scale and Location of Development
Proposals

CC01

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development

CC02

Development Limits

CC03

Green Infrastructure, Trees and
Landscaping

CC04

Sustainable Design and Construction

CC09

Development and Flood Risk

CC10

Sustainable Drainage

TB05

Housing Mix

TB07

Internal Space Standards

Adopted Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan 2014

94

Supplementary Planning Documents
(SPD)

TB21

Landscape Character

BDG

Borough Design Guide

SDC

Sustainable Design and Construction
May 2010

WPSS

Wokingham Parking Standards Study
Report October 2011

PLANNING ISSUES
Description of Development:
1. The scheme is for the erection of a two storey property comprising of two x one
bedroom flats and two x two bedroom flats. The building would comprise of two
sections with a central stairwell connecting them. The section containing the one
bedroom flats would be 6.8 metres in width and 8.6 metres in length with a
hipped roof with a ridge height of 8.4 metres and an eaves height of 5.0 metres.
The section containing the two bedroom flats would be 9.8 metres in width and
7.5 metres in length with a hipped roof with a ridge height of 8.6 metres and an
eaves height of 5.0 metres. Windows would be provided on the front and rear
elevations. Internally, the properties would be the same layout with access from
the main stairwell. There would be ground floor access to the rear amenity space
and parking spaces to the front.
Principle of Development:
2. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in
favour of sustainable development which is carried through to the local
Development Plan. The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policy CC01
states that planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development
Plan for Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
3. The site is located within a major development location and within a settlement
boundary and as such the development should be acceptable providing that it
complies with the principles stated in the Core Strategy. Policy CP3 of the Core
Strategy states that development must be appropriate in terms of its scale of
activity, mass, layout, built form, height, materials and character to the area in
which it is located and must be of high quality design without detriment to the
amenities of adjoining land uses and occupiers.
Impact on the Character of the Area:
4. The site is located adjacent to the Wokingham Borough boundary with the other
side of the road within the Reading Borough. Both sides are residential in
character. On the Reading side, there is a character of semi-detached properties
on a set building line however this is not always the case with other examples of
dwelling types to the south. On the Wokingham side, the character is more mixed
with previous backland developments introducing different dwelling styles and
types. The site itself is located between a semi-detached dwelling and a terrace,
both of which are two storeys. In front of the site, adjacent to the road is the start
of a line of trees which generally obscure views into the site. The site is bordered

95

by a wall which encloses a grass area and then leads to an area of parking which
is accessed from Anson Crescent.
5. The proposal would result in a two storey building in the gap between the existing
dwellings. With the retention of the wall and the majority of the trees in front of
the site, it is considered the proposal would still be appropriately obscured from
views and the two storey aspect would be in keeping. Whilst it is noted there is
an existing gap between buildings, on the opposite side of the road, there is a
line of dwellings with smaller gaps between buildings. As such, the introduction
the proposal into the street scene would leave gaps similar to the opposite side
of the road and therefore is considered acceptable.
6. The proposal would be in front of the building line established by the semidetached property and the terraces and in this respect does not reflect the street
scene. It is acknowledged that the porch areas to the terraces are further forward
than the main building line however these are single storey and therefore their
impact is not significant. As such, the plans have been revised to bring the
building more in line with other properties. With the retention of the trees and
wall, this is considered to be acceptable. Although it is acknowledged that the
amenity space would be fronting the street, given that the view from the street
scene would not be significantly altered and views into the site would not be
possible, no harmful impact is considered to occur in this respect.
7. As noted, there are differing styles within the street scene and therefore the
introduction of a hipped roof is considered acceptable due to the existing
variation. In terms of visual integration, the proposal would be partially obscured
by the trees and wall. Furthermore, with appropriate materials (Condition 3), it is
considered the building could successfully integrate into the area. The
fenestration detailing would be similar but not the same as neighbouring
properties however there is already variation in the street scene and therefore
this is acceptable.
Residential Amenities:
8. As there are no side facing windows at 1 Anson Walk or 9 and 10 Birch Green, it
is considered there would be no overbearing or loss of light impact. Similarly,
there are no side facing windows in the proposal and therefore no overlooking
impact would occur.
Access and Movement:
9. Highway Safety and Road Design: The proposal would require access from
Anson Crescent which is currently quite narrow as the road to the site leads only
to parking spaces. As a result, a change to the junction of Anson Crescent is
proposed to improve visibility. Subject to a condition, the Highways Officer does
not object to this (conditions 8 and 9). Additionally, a suitable turning area is also
provided.
10. Parking: Currently the site contains five parking spaces which are used by local
residents. In order to accommodate the development, one of these spaces would
be lost however four additional spaces would be provided. These four would be
allocated parking for the proposed flats and therefore it is acknowledged there

96

would be a reduction in the overall level of parking for local residents of one
space. However, it is considered one parking space could be accommodated on
the local highway network without significant detriment to highway safety,
particularly given that the street is not immediately adjacent to highway. As such,
the Highways Officer has raised no objection subject to a condition to ensure that
the development is acceptable (Condition 10).
11. Sustainability: Secure, covered cycle storage has been indicated and is
considered acceptable, subject to a condition (Condition 11).
Flooding:
12. The site is located in Flood Zone 1 is less than a hectare in size. As such there
is no requirement to submit a Flood Risk Assessment and there are no known
historical flooding issues. Given that the majority of the site is already hard
standing it is considered the proposal would not detrimentally impact on flooding
and surface water drainage and therefore is acceptable in this respect. Whilst it is
acknowledged that the drainage consultant has requested a condition, this
relates to detailed drainage matters. From a planning perspective, it is
considered a soakaway would be appropriate in this area and therefore further
information is not required to determine the application.
Landscape and Trees:
13. The site itself does not contain any trees and is of little amenity value. However,
there is a group of trees to the north west of the site which are adjacent to the
road and significantly contribute to the street scene. One of these trees would be
removed as a result of the proposal however the other trees would remain. Due
to their proximity to the construction proposed, the Tree and Landscape Officer
requested that a tree survey be carried out prior to determination.
14. As a result of the tree survey, the Tree and Landscape Officer has raised a
concern regarding the proximity of the building to a scots pine (Category A tree)
located adjacent to the site and the incursion into its root protection area.
Furthermore, the Tree and Landscape Officer is concerned that the shading of
the gardens and the flats themselves due to the proximity to the trees would put
undue pressure on the requirement for works to the trees (i.e. through crown
lifting/reduction or the removal of the trees).
15. From a planning perspective, it needs to be determined whether the potential
harmful impact on the trees is outweighed by the benefits of the scheme in
providing affordable housing. Whilst the loss of one tree is considered justifiable,
the scheme could potentially lead to the loss of further trees. Significant weight
has been given to the presence of the trees in the street and therefore any
further loss would be harmful to the wider landscape. However, the Tree and
Landscape Officer considers a solution for providing appropriate protection of the
trees could be found by way of condition and therefore these are attached
(Conditions 4, 5, 6 and 11). On balance therefore, the proposal is considered
acceptable in this respect.
Environmental Health

97

16. No known contamination issues exist on or in close proximity to the site however
the site is used for the parking of vehicles and this could potentially lead to some
contamination from oil spills. As such, and due to the residential use of the
proposal, the Environmental Health Officer requires a condition for a survey to
establish if any contamination is present (Condition 7).
Amenity Space for future occupiers:
17. The Borough Design Guide states that flats should have access to some form of
amenity space through the provision of private or communal garden space. The
proposal would provide two sections of amenity space, one for plots 1 and 3, the
other for plots 2 and 4. Both of these would have an area of approximately 42m2
which although of a relatively small size, could still accommodate typical garden
activities. As such, the proposal is considered acceptable in this respect.
Internal Space Standards
18. The internal space standards for new dwellings are set out in the Borough
Design Guide and supported by Policy TB07 of the MDD Local Plan. The
minimum gross internal area for a one bedroom flat is 50m2 and a two bedroom
flat 61m2. The proposal would be 51.35m2 and 64.53m2 respectively and would
therefore meet the requirement. All other rooms would meet the space
requirements and each would have a window and appropriate circulation space.
As such, the proposal is acceptable in this respect.
Biodiversity:
19. As no buildings would need to be demolished and the site is only used for
dumping rubbish and parking cars, no harmful impact on biodiversity is
considered to occur. As such, the Biodiversity Officer raises no objection to the
proposal.
Sustainability:
20. In line with Policy CC04 of the MDD, new dwellings shall meet Code 4 for
sustainable homes or demonstrate why this is cannot be achieved. Furthermore,
all development should incorporate suitable waste management facilities
including on-site recycling. It is considered that sufficient internal and external
storage could be provided to accommodate this and a condition to require Code
4 to be achieved would result in the proposal according with Policy CC04
(Condition 13).
Community Infrastructure Levy, Affordable Housing and SPA:
21. Community Infrastructure Levy: As the proposal is for the construction of new
dwellings, it would be a CIL liable development. The CIL charge for new
residential development is set at £365 per square metre for any net increase in
residential floor space. As a result, the CIL charge for this development would be
£84,592.40. It is noted however that the scheme would likely be for affordable
housing and therefore an exemption for the CIL charge could potentially be
applied for.

98

22. Affordable Housing: The proposal does not meet the threshold for the provision
of affordable housing as per Policy CP5 of the Core Strategy. However,
Wokingham Housing Limited proposes to provide the properties as affordable
housing and therefore a unilateral undertaking would be submitted by the
applicant. Subject to this, the provision of affordable housing is considered to be
acceptable.
23. Special Protection Area: Whilst the proposal is within 7 km of the Thames
Basin Heath Special Protection Area, it does not meet the threshold for mitigation
against the SPA. As such, a mitigation strategy or contribution to the Council's
agreed mitigation strategy is not required.
CONCLUSION
The application is considered to be acceptable in terms of the impact on the character
of the area, neighbouring properties and highways. Most of the parking that would be
lost as part of the proposal would be replaced and the proposal would provide adequate
living amenities for future occupiers. Given the current use of the site, the proposal is
considered to have a positive impact on the area and, as such, the proposal is
recommended for conditional approval.
CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services

99

This page is intentionally left blank

Surveyors Limited

101

103

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 136.
Development
Management
Ref No
F/2014/2784

No weeks on
day of
committee
17/8

Parish

Ward

Listed by:

Remenham

Remenham
Wargrave &
Ruscombe

Councillor
John Halsall

Applicant
Location
Proposal

Mr T Cole
Green Isle, Wargrave Road, Remenham
Postcode RG9 3JD
Proposed erection of dwelling and boathouse following the demolition of
existing dwelling and boathouse. Plus alterations to existing footbridge.
Type
Minor dwellings
PS Category 13
Officer
Graham Vaughan
FOR CONSIDERATION BY
REPORT PREPARED BY

Planning Committee on 29th April 2015
Head of Development Management and Regulatory
Services

SUMMARY
The application site is in the Green Belt and designated countryside within Remenham.
Although accessed from Wargrave Road, the dwelling on the site is on an island in the
River Thames. The island also contains a boat house with residential accommodation
above. Whilst the only dwelling in the area to be on an island, there are numerous other
dwellings that address the river and as well as Marsh Lock and weir. Generally the
character is of large properties on substantial plots with a significant amount of
vegetation on the boundaries. The application is for a replacement dwelling and boat
house both of which would be a contemporary design. The site is within Flood Zone 3
however, the dwelling would be designed to flood at ground floor level with the rest of
the property raised above the flood level.
The proposal would increase the size of the dwelling and boat house. However, this
would be an increase of 34% over the original volume on the site. As such, the proposal
is considered to accord with local plan policy regarding Green Belts. Furthermore, whilst
the proposal is of a large scale, it is not considered to have a significantly harmful
impact on the character of the area relative to the existing dwelling. Additionally, due to
the separation distances to the neighbouring properties, no detrimental impact is
considered to occur on residential amenities. As such, the proposal is considered to
accord with local plan policy and is therefore recommended for approval.
PLANNING STATUS
 Green Belt
 Countryside
 Sand and gravel extraction
 Groundwater protection zone 3
 Flood Zone 3
 Minerals consultation zone
 Nuclear consultation zone
 Contaminated land consultation zone

105

RECOMMENDATION
That the committee authorise the GRANT of PLANNING PERMISSION subject to
conditions:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
2. This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings
numbered ‘164-200-001-B’ ‘164-200010-A’, ‘164-200-011-A’, ‘164-200-012-A’,
‘164-200-020-B’, ‘164-200-021-A’, ‘164-200-022-B’, ‘164-200-023-B’, ‘164-200024-A’, ‘164-200-030-C’ received by the local planning authority on 17th
December 2014 and the revised plans on 2nd April 2015. The development shall
be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed
in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is
carried out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby
approved.
3. Before the development hereby permitted is commenced, samples and details of
the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
building/s shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. Development shall not be carried out other than in
accordance with the so-approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory.
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3
4. No development shall take place until details of surface water drainage have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
details shall include
-

-

Dimensions, locations, gradients, invert, cover levels and maintenance
arrangements of the proposed drainage system
Evidence of correspondence with the Environment Agency confirming
agreement in principal to discharge the proposed rate of runoff to the River
Thames
A copy of the Flood Risk Management Plan

Any drainage strategy shall be implemented in accordance with the approved
details before the dwelling is occupied.
Reason: To ensure surface water drainage would not be detrimentally impacted
by the proposal and would not exacerbate flooding off the site. Relevant
Policies: Core Strategy policies CP3 and CC10.
5. a)
No development or other operation shall commence on site until an
Arboricultural Method Statement and Scheme of Works which provides for the
retention and protection of trees, shrubs and hedges growing on or adjacent to
the site in accordance with BS5837: 2012 has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. No development or other operations shall
take place except in complete accordance with the details as so-approved
(hereinafter referred to as the Approved Scheme).

106

b)
No operations shall commence on site in connection with development
hereby approved (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil
moving, temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation
involving use of motorised vehicles or construction machinery)<b> until</b> the
tree protection works required by the Approved Scheme are in place on site.
c)
No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of
vehicles, deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of
liquids shall take place within an area designated as being fenced off or
otherwise protected in the Approved Scheme.
d)
The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall
not be moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including
external works have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus
materials removed from the site, unless the prior approval in writing of the local
planning authority has first been sought and obtained.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that the development is
being carried out of trees shrubs or hedges growing within or adjacent to the site
which are of amenity value to the area, and to allow for verification by the local
planning authority that the necessary measures are in place before development
and other works commence Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and
[Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
6. Prior to the commencement of the development there shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority a scheme of landscaping,
which shall specify species, planting sizes, spacing and numbers of trees/shrubs
to be planted, and any existing trees or shrubs to be retained.
Planting shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details in the first
planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the building(s).
Any trees or plants which, within a period of 5 years from the date of the planting
(or within a period of 5 years of the occupation of the buildings in the case of
retained trees and shrubs) die, are removed or become seriously damaged or
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size
and species or otherwise as approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure adequate planting in the interests of visual amenity. Relevant
policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan
policies CC03 and TB21
7. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
contingency, mitigation and enhancement measures contained in the submitted
Daylight Bat Survey, paragraphs 4.2.1 to 4.3.3 inclusive and appendix 3 (John
Wenman Ecological Consultancy, Ref: R957/b, April 2015) unless otherwise
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The dwelling shall not be
occupied until a report by the supervising ecologist has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority to satisfactorily demonstrate
the contingency, mitigation and enhancement measures have been carried out.
Reason: To ensure that bats, a European Protected Species, are not adversely
impacted upon as a result of the development and favourable conservation
status is maintained. Relevant Policy: Core Strategy Policy CP7
8. No trees, shrubs or hedges within the site which are shown as being retained on
the approved plans shall be felled, uprooted wilfully damaged or destroyed, cut
back in any way or removed without previous written consent of the local
planning authority; any trees, shrubs or hedges removed without consent or

107

dying or being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years
from the completion of the development hereby permitted shall be replaced with
trees, shrubs or hedge plants of similar size and species unless the local
planning authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that development is being
carried out, of trees, shrubs and hedges growing within the site which are of
amenity value to the area. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21
9. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment December 2014 ref:
32330/001 and plan 164-200-030-C and the following mitigation measures
detailed within the FRA:
- The proposed built footprint will not be any larger than existing, which is
135sqm.
- Flood resilience and resistance measures will be implemented as proposed.
- The surface water management features, including green roofs and permeable
paving, will be implemented as proposed.
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and
subsequently in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied
within the scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in
writing, by the local planning authority.
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future
occupants and to provide floodplain storage. Relevant policy: MDD Policy CC09
10. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and reenacting that Order with or without modification), no fences, walls or gates shall
be erected unless of a permeable design.
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future
occupants.
11. The dwelling shall achieve Code Level 4 in accordance with the requirements of
the Code for Sustainable Homes: Technical Guide [or such national measure of
sustainability for house design that replaces that scheme]. No dwelling shall be
occupied until a Final Code Certificate has been issued for it by an accredited
assessor certifying that Code Level 4 has been achieved.
Reason: To ensure developments contribute to sustainable development.
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change,
Flooding and Coastal Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing
Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC04
12. Notwithstanding the provisions of Classes A, B, C, D, E, F and G of Part 1 of the
Second Schedule the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that
Order with or without modification), no buildings, enlargement or alterations
permitted shall be carried out without the express permission in writing of the
local planning authority.
Reason: To safeguard the character of the Countryside and neighbouring
amenities. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP11 and
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy TB21

108

Informatives
1. The applicant is reminded that this approval is granted subject to conditions
which must be complied with prior to the development starting on site.
Commencement of the development without complying with the precommencement requirements may be outside the terms of this permission and
liable to enforcement action. The information required should be formally
submitted to the Council for consideration with the relevant fee. Once the details
have been approved in writing the development should be carried out only in
accordance with those details. If this is not clear please contact the case officer
to discuss.
2. The development hereby permitted is liable to pay the Community Infrastructure
Levy. The Liability Notice issued by Wokingham Borough Council will state the
current chargeable amount. A revised Liability Notice will be issued if this amount
changes. Anyone can formally assume liability to pay, but if no one does so then
liability will rest with the landowner. There are certain legal requirements that
must be complied with. For instance, whoever will pay the levy must submit an
Assumption of Liability form and a Commencement Notice to Wokingham
Borough Council prior to commencement of development. For more information
see - http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/planning/developers/cil/cil-processes/
PLANNING HISTORY
21037
Wooden footbridge between island and mainland conditionally
approved on 5th April 1984
21942
Vehicular access from Wargrave Road conditionally approved on
20th September 1984
26432
Replacement garage conditionally approved on 3rd November
1986
42219
Single storey extension conditionally approved on 9th September
1994
F/2007/0017
Erection of new first floor balcony conditionally approved on 22nd
February 2007
CONSULTATION RESPONSES
South Oxfordshire
No comments received
Thames Water
No objection
Environment Agency
No objection subject to condition (9)
Highways
No objection
Biodiversity
No objection subject to condition (7)
Tree and Landscape
No objection subject to conditions (5, 6 and 8)
Environmental Health
No objection
Drainage
No objection subject to condition (4)
Waste Services
No comments received
Remenham Parish Council Objection due to the following:
 The proposed structure (although nominally just a
modest volume increase) has a larger apparent volume
(and raised level of light pollution) than the existing
property (that it is proposed will be demolished) as
seen from the Thames Footpath. RPC believes that this
is an important Thames view between Henley and
Marsh Lock for many people that should be

109

preserved/enhanced.
In the proposal the main building would move
downstream, exposing houses that are
presently hidden behind. RPC believes that the
proposed development would dwarf its surroundings
and be harmful to the Green Belt.
Listing request if the recommendation is for approval by
Councillor John Halsall due to inappropriate development
in the Green Belt and out of character with surrounding
river properties.


Local Members

REPRESENTATIONS
 Letter of objection received from the River Thames Society:
o Bulk at the upper floor level would lead to dominant and overbearing
visual impact to river users
o Design is out of keeping with the other domestic buildings
 Letter of objection received from the Marsh Mills Residents Company (on behalf
of the residents of Marsh Mills):
o Scale and design of the proposed development would appear to be
disproportionate to the property it is intended to replace
o Removal of trees would have a detrimental environmental impact
o Visual detraction on other properties
o The site is a haven for wildlife and the removal of trees would be
detrimental to this
 Letter of objection received from neighbouring dwelling, Mill Pool Cottage:
o Mill Pool Cottage is not a three storey property and views towards it from
the river make it look larger than it actually is
o A smaller, more modest dwelling would have a more acceptable impact on
local wildlife
APPLICANTS POINTS
 The proposal is for an innovative and ambitious project and would be pioneering
in house building
 The dwelling would be able to flood without significant detriment to the
occupants.
 The proposal accords with Green Belt policy and would enhance the site and
local area
PLANNING POLICY
National Policy

NPPF

National Planning Policy Framework

Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010

CP1

Sustainable Development

CP3

General Principles for Development

CP4

Infrastructure Requirements

CP6

Managing Travel Demand

CP7

Biodiversity

CP9

Scale and Location of Development
Proposals

CP11

Proposals outside development limits
(including countryside)

110

Adopted Managing Development
Delivery Local Plan 2014

Supplementary Planning Documents
(SPD)

CP12

Green Belt

CC01

Presumption in Favour of Sustainable
Development

CC02

Development Limits

CC03

Green Infrastructure, Trees and
Landscaping

CC04

Sustainable Design and Construction

CC09

Development and Flood Risk

CC10

Sustainable Drainage

TB01

Development in the Green Belt

TB07

Internal Space Standards

TB21

Landscape Character

BDG

Borough Design Guide SPD

PLANNING ISSUES
Description of Development:
1. The scheme is for a replacement dwelling in order to construct a building that
would be resilient to flooding and low intensity in energy usage. The proposal
also includes a boat house which would use the existing river space but have an
earth covering to blend into the area. The property would be of a contemporary
design with an emphasis on views to the river. The design takes a diamond
shape and would have the majority of the rooms at first and second floor with an
overhang and void at ground floor on one side. The dwelling would be designed
to flood at the ground floor but maintain an access to the footbridge, and
therefore the site on Wargrave Road, at first floor.
Principle of Development:
2. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in
favour of sustainable development which is carried through to the local
Development Plan. The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policy CC01
states that planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development
Plan for Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
3. The site is located in the Green Belt and designated countryside. The NPPF
states that local planning authorities should give great weight to any harm to the
Green Belt and that inappropriate development, by definition, is harmful to the
Green Belt. As such, it should not be approved except in special circumstances.
The NPPF also highlights that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to
prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open and that the essential
characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their permanence. The
NPPF gives certain exceptions as to what is considered not inappropriate
development in the Green Belt. Amongst other things, this includes “the
replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and not
materially larger than the one it replaces” (para 89). The proposal is considered
to come under this category and therefore it must be determined if it complies

111

with this. Local plan policies TB01 and CP12 support the NPPF however these
policies do not specifically define what is materially larger. Notwithstanding this, it
has been upheld at a High Court appeal that when determining if something is
materially larger, all aspects such as height, width, length, foot print and volume
should be taken into account but also viewed in the context of the site, the Green
Belt and the original buildings.
4. The Design and Access Statement states that the dwelling and boathouse were
constructed prior to 1948 and the conservatory added after this date. In line with
Green Belt policy, the volume on a site should be taken as that which existed on
1st June 1948 or from the date it was built if after this date. As such, the volume
on the site comprises of the main dwelling and the residential accommodation in
the boat house which amounts to 928 m 3. The new dwelling would 1193 m3 and
this equates to a 28.5% increase in volume. There is also a replacement boat
house proposed which would utilise the existing boat mooring (and space around
it) but would be covered with earth works to fit into the area. This would be 50
cubic metres and therefore the total increase in volume across the site would be
34%. It is acknowledged that there would be a large overhang and therefore a
void at ground floor beneath the main part of the dwelling which would increase
the visual bulk of the dwelling relative to the existing. However, the area would be
open on three sides allowing views through it and would be of a sufficient size to
ensure it would be seen as a gap, rather than perceived as part of the building.
As such, this area is not considered to constitute volume that should be taken
into account.
5. As shown on plan ‘164-200-030-C’, the dwelling would in fact decrease in length
from 14 metres to 11.2 metres. There would be an increase in width however
from 11.1 metres to 21.5 metres. This would result in a decrease in footprint from
135 m2 to 120 m2 (a reduction of 13%). The ridge height of the proposal would
be 1.07 metres higher than the existing ridge height but would have a shallower
roof pitch. Additionally, the proposal would be set back into the site away from
the river edge to the south. Much of the additional built form is due to the volume
being moved from ground floor to first and second floor and, as such, it is
acknowledged that the proposal would be physically larger than the existing.
6. As stated previously, the boat house and the dwelling are considered to be the
original buildings as of 1947 and therefore weight should be given to this. The
proximity of the boat house to the dwelling means that the gap between them is
not fully appreciated and therefore the main view of the existing buildings (i.e.
when looking from the river side) results in one large building. When taking into
account the two buildings together, the proposal is considered to be a marginal
increase in terms of height, width and length. Furthermore, in volume terms, this
would be within 35% of the original buildings on the site. Given this the proposal
is not considered to be materially larger than the existing built form on the site to
the extent it would have a harmful impact on the Green Belt. On balance
therefore, the proposal is considered to be acceptable and accords with the
NPPF, policy CP12 of the Core Strategy and TB01 of the MDD.
7. The site is located outside any defined settlement area and therefore the
proposal needs to accord with Policy CP11 of the adopted Core Strategy. This
states that proposals outside of development limits will not normally be permitted
except where, in the case of replacement dwellings, they bring about

112

environmental improvements or do not result in an inappropriate increase in the
scale, form or footprint of the original building. Whilst there would be an increase
in the scale of the dwelling, the footprint would be reduced and it is considered it
would be of a similar bulk to the existing built form on the site. Additionally, given
that a residential dwelling exists on the site, and development cannot occur
further due to the physical limits of the island, a replacement dwelling, albeit of a
larger scale, is not considered to have a significantly harmful impact on the
countryside. In addition, the proposal seeks to reduce instances of flooding to the
dwelling which is considered an environmental improvement. As such, the
proposal is considered to accord with the exception criteria in Policy CP11.
Impact on the Character of the Area:
8. The existing dwelling is located on a small island on the River Thames and is
located to the south east of the island. There is a boat house adjacent to the
property and the island is accessed by a foot bridge. This leads to a vehicular
turning area and access onto Wargrave Road. The island has a large amount of
mature vegetation including a tree in close proximity to the dwelling. Around the
site, a converted mill and other residential properties are located adjacent to
Wargrave Road and Marsh Lock is visible to south as well as other residential
properties in Henley. Overall, the site has a rural, verdant character with
dwellings of different design and types interspersed along the river.
9. The proposed replacement house would utilise the existing built form of the site
and although larger, would not be significantly taller than the existing dwelling.
The property would be relocated on the island and set more centrally and indeed
further back from the river. The proposal aims to have a floodable area at ground
level and therefore places an emphasis on first and second floor accommodation.
The house would be cantilevered above a void at ground floor and set in a
diamond shape with a low pitched roof. As a result, the main section of the
building would be at a higher level. The design would utilise views to the river
and have a vertical emphasis with long and thin windows (and supporting
columns between them). This would be in a stone finish with a zinc roof however
precise details would be agreed at a conditions stage (condition 3).
10. The proposal would have an appreciably greater presence on the site, partly due
to the increase in size but also due to its striking appearance. It is acknowledged
that volume from the ground floor would be moved to the first and second floors
(and therefore create a void at ground floor level) which would increase its scale.
However, the dwelling is located on an island and this in itself makes it different
to other properties. In terms of establishing a replacement dwelling in this
location, although larger in volume, the footprint would decrease and the property
would be set slightly further back from the main view on the river. As a result, in
terms of plot coverage and the fact there is built form already on the island, the
proposal is considered to detrimentally impact on the character of the area in this
respect.
11. Along the river, there is no set design of dwellings with many traditional style
properties juxtaposed with contemporary styles. Furthermore, the interplay
between the verdant landscape, the river and interspersed dwellings is part of
what comprises and contributes to the riparian character. In particular, the mix of
dwelling styles and architectural types along the river indicate the evolving nature

113

of the river scene and how it has changed over time. In this section of the river,
numerous architectural styles can be seen including a 1970’s block of flats,
modern timber dwellings and a mock Georgian style property. As a result, it is
considered there is no prevalent local building form which would serve to
establish a locally distinctive style. In this respect, it can be concluded that the
current dwelling already differs from neighbouring properties and therefore its
replacement; albeit in a contemporary style, would not detrimentally impact on
the character of the area.
12. Notwithstanding the above, it is acknowledged that concerns have been raised
regarding the proposed scale of the property and its visual impact in the river
scene. In particular, the vertical emphasis of the property could be considered to
result in the building appearing larger than it actually is. To counter this, the
architect has provided a scale model of the proposal to show the difference
between the existing and proposed dwelling from different viewpoints. From this,
it is concluded the impact would be very minimal. Additionally, the proposal
would be set back in the site whereas the existing dwelling is located immediately
adjacent to the river. As such, and taking into account the design of the proposal,
it is considered that on balance, the replacement dwelling would not detrimentally
impact on the character of the area.
Residential Amenities:
13. The nearest residential property is approximately 25 metres away at its closest
point. Due to this, no harmful impact is considered to occur in regards to
overlooking, overbearing or a loss of light.
Highways and Access:
14. The existing property is accessed via a footbridge from Wargrave Road where
the vehicular access is located. This would not change as a result of the proposal
and therefore the access and parking would remain the same. Furthermore,
existing buildings within the curtilage on the Wargrave Road section would be
provide cycle storage. As such, the Highways Officer raises no objection to the
proposal.
Flooding:
15. The site is within Flood Zone 3 and has many historical examples of flooding.
The current floor level is set at 32.21 m AOD with the Environment Agency
reporting flood levels at 33.68m AOD. The requirement to overcome this flooding
aspect has been fundamental in achieving the current design. As well as raising
the finished flood level of habitable rooms above the flood level, the foot print of
the property would decrease by 13% thereby improving flood storage amounts.
16. A Flood Risk Assessment has been submitted which concludes the development
would be safe and there would be no increase in flooding elsewhere. The
Environment Agency has assessed this as well as a plan to show the
volume/footprint calculation on the site and concluded that there would not be a
harmful impact. As such, the Environment Agency is satisfied that no detrimental
impact on the property itself or neighbouring properties would occur, subject to a
condition (condition 9).

114

17. Criterion 3 of policy CP11 states that development in the countryside may be
acceptable where the scheme brings about environmental improvements. Given
that the dwelling would largely be taken out of the flood zone (but with the lower
section designed to flood if necessary), it is considered some weight should be
placed on this section of CP11.
Landscape and Trees:
18. The Wargrave Road site contains trees and an area Tree Preservation Order
adjacent to the river; however none of these would be affected by the proposal
directly. The island site contains numerous trees however none of these are
protected by TPOs. The trees do contribute to the wider character of the area
and therefore the Tree and Landscape Officer has stated that they should be
retained where possible. As such, and following a revision to the proposal, all
trees except for the large willow would be retained. However, the willow has been
identified as likely to fail entirely in the short term and the Tree and Landscape
Officer does not object to this. Replacement planting can be agreed through a
landscaping scheme which would either negate the loss of the willow or provide a
net increase in the number of trees on the site. As such, subject to conditions,
the Tree and Landscape Officer does not object to the proposal (conditions 5, 6
and 8).
Environmental Health:
19. The Environmental Health Officer has confirmed there is no known contamination
concern with the site and that due to the distance to neighbouring properties,
noise and lighting would not be an issue.
Amenity Space:
20. The existing property is on an island and already has ample amenity space far
exceeding the 11 metre guideline as set out in the Borough Design Guide. Whilst
the proposal would change the location of the dwelling, the resultant amenity
space is still considered to be sufficient.
Internal Space Standards:
21. The internal space standards for new dwellings are set out in the Borough
Design Guide and supported by Policy TB07 of the MDD Local Plan. Given the
size of the rooms, the configuration of the dwelling and windows, it is considered
the proposal would exceed the internal space standards.
Protected Species:
22. An ecological survey was undertaken which concluded that there was no
evidence of bats being able to use the buildings on site or the willow tree.
However the survey does recommend precautionary methods for tree works and
wildlife enhancement. As such, the Biodiversity Officer is satisfied that the
proposal would not have a harmful impact on biodiversity subject to a condition
requiring these methods to be carried out (condition 7).

115

Sustainability:
23. In line with Policy CC04 of the MDD, new dwellings shall meet Code 4 for
sustainable homes or demonstrate why this is cannot be achieved. Furthermore,
all development should incorporate suitable waste management facilities
including on-site recycling. It is considered the dwelling would be able to meet
Code 4 (or potentially higher) due to its low energy usage and therefore this
would meet the policy requirement. To ensure this however, a condition requiring
code 4 can be attached (condition 11).
Infrastructure, SPA and Affordable Housing:
24. Infrastructure: As the proposal is for the construction of a new dwelling, it would
be a CIL liable development. The CIL charge for new residential development is
set at £365 per square metre for any net increase in residential floor space. As a
result, the CIL charge for this development would be £377,446.50. It is noted
however that the scheme would likely be a self-build project and therefore an
exemption from the CIL charge could potentially be applied for.
25. Affordable Housing: The application does not meet the threshold required to
provide affordable housing.
26. Special Protection Area: The proposal is not within 5 km of the Thames Basin
Heath Special Protection Area and therefore a mitigation strategy or contribution
to the Council's agreed mitigation strategy is not required.
CONCLUSION
The proposal would not have a significantly harmful impact on the Green Belt, being no
more than 34% increase in volume above the original. Although the scale of the
proposal would be increased, it would not have a significantly greater harm than the
existing bulk and mass currently on the site. The proposal would also not have a
harmful impact on residential amenities, the highway network, environmental health or
tree and landscape issues. Given that the main habitable areas would be taken out of
the flood zone and the foot print on the site would decrease, there is an overall benefit
in terms of flood risk. As such, the proposal accords with Local Plan policy and is
recommended for approval.
CONTACT DETAILS
Service
Telephone
Email
Development
0118 974 6428 / 6429 development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
Management and
Regulatory Services

116

117

This page is intentionally left blank

119

This page is intentionally left blank

FFL + 32.21

121
November

This page is intentionally left blank

123
roof to winter terrace

Proposed
November

This page is intentionally left blank

125
November

This page is intentionally left blank

127
November

This page is intentionally left blank

129

This page is intentionally left blank

131

This page is intentionally left blank

1. No dimensions to be scaled
2. All dimensions to be verified by the contractor before work is commenced
3. Architect to be notified immediately if any discrepancies are found
4. All shop drawings to be approved by Architect before work commences.
5. All details to be in accordance with relevant British Standards and manufacturers recommendations
and specification
6. This drawing is the property of Baca Architects Limited, copyright reserved. This drawing is not to
be copied, reproduced, retained or disclosed to any unauthorised person either wholly or in part
without the specific consent in writing of Baca Architects Limited.

Existing Buildings Footprint consiting of:
Gazebo
5sqm
Ramp to bridge
3sqm
Dwelling
135sqm
Area with flood bariers
5sqm
Boathouse
8sqm
Total
156 sqm

All Dimensions in mm

11.1m

Ramp to bridge

Boat
House

14.0

Existing
Dwelling

133
Gazebo

Flood barriers
River flow
direction

Existing Plan

Motor yacht

Proposed
Dwelling
Boat
House

Net gain in Flood Storage: +19sqm2

Ramp to bridge
6.0m

Existing Buildings Footprint consiting of:
Gazebo
5sqm
Ramp to bridge
3sqm
Dwelling
120sqm
Boathouse
9 sqm
Total
137sqm

21.5m

Gazebo
River flow
direction
Proposed Plan

Unit 1, 199 Long Lane, London SE1 4PN

t/ +44 (0) 20 7397 5620
mail@baca.uk.com

Building Footprint Comparisons
19 March 2015 - Rev C: Planning submission to EA

N

0

1

12 March 2015 - Rev B: Planning submission to EA
0
10m

1

1 to 100 at A3

5m

5

10m

5 Nov 2014 - Rev A: Planning submission

Project 164 - Green Isle

19 March 2015
September
2014
164-200-030-C

This page is intentionally left blank

135
November

This page is intentionally left blank

Graham Vaughan
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Development Control
26 January 2015 14:41
Graham Vaughan
FW: Comments of Remenham Parish Council (RPC) on F/2014/2784 (Green Isle)
~[UNCLASSIFIED]~

Zoona Choudhary
Technical Assistant
Development & Regeneration Service
Development Management Team
Wokingham Borough Council
PO Box 157
Shute End
Wokingham
Berkshire
RG40 1WR

Tel: 0118 974 6000
Email: planning.registration@wokingham.gov.uk
www.wokingham.gov.uk

From: Paul Sermon [mailto:psermon@btinternet.com]
Sent: 23 January 2015 23:08
To: Development Control
Subject: Comments of Remenham Parish Council (RPC) on F/2014/2784 (Green Isle)

development.control@wokingham.gov.uk
I write to indicate RPC's views on this proposal.
RPC has considered application F2014/2784 (Green Isle) at its January 2015 meeting.
It considers that the proposed structure (although nominally just a modest volume increase) has a larger
apparent volume (and raised level of light pollution) than the existing property (that it is proposed will be
demolished) as seen from the Thames Footpath. RPC believes that this is an important Thames view
between Henley and Marsh Lock for many people that should be preserved/enhanced.
In the proposal the main building would move downstream, exposing houses that are presently hidden
behind. RPC believes that the proposed development would dwarf its surroundings and be harmful to the
Green Belt.
Therefore RPC does not support this application and its councillors would be willing to speak on this
proposal.
Paul Sermon (Clerk to RPC)

1371

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 137.
QUARTERLY ENFORCEMENT MONITORING INFORMATION
PLANNING COMMITTEE Apr 2015
___________________________________________________________________
RFS CASES 1 Jan – 31 Mar 2015
Number on hand 1 Jan

212

Number received

148

Number closed

140

% closed in 8 weeks

52%

Number on hand on 31 Mar

220

Reasons for closure
Number
%
Other
14
10%
No breach of planning control
75
53%
Not expedient to pursue
0
0%
Voluntary compliance
30
21%
Details submitted (eg minor amendment, details
pursuant to conditions, planning application)
21
16%
__________________________________________________________________
SUMMARY OF NOTICES/PROSECUTION for period 1 Jant – 31 Mar 2015
Notice Type

Number Served

Enforcement Notices

7
31 The Drive (unauthorised house
extension)
24 Huntingdon Close (unauthorised
change of use of land to garden)
Bearwood nurseries (unauthorised
storage of vehicles)
443/445 Reading Road (unauthorised
car repairs)
Bird Place Cottage (unauthorised work to
Listed Building)
Misbourne (unauthorised dwelling in
Green Belt)
Upper Culham farm (2 unauthorised flats
in equestrian building)

Stop Notices

2
Bearwood Nureries (unauthorised
storage of vehicles)
443/445 Reading Road (unauthorised
car repairs)

Temporary Stop Notices

1
Land at Church Lane Shinfield

139

(unauthorised builders depot)
Breach of Condition Notices

0

Section 215 Notices

0

Prosecutions (see below)

2

Direct Action

0

Injunctions

Warren Lane temporary injunction made
permanent

Prosecutions
WBC v Killoran Oldfield poultry farm. Failure to comply with EN. Fined £1000 and
ordered to pay costs
WBC v Scott Warren farm. Failure to comply with EN. Fined £500 and ordered to pay
costs.
APPEALS AGAINST ENFORCEMENT NOTICES 1 Jan – 31 Mar 2015
Number of enforcement appeals lodged: 4 (443/445 Reading Road, 24 Huntingdon
Close, 31 The Drive, Upper Culham Farm)
Number of enforcement notice appeals determined: 0
Number of enforcement appeals withdrawn: 0
Enforcement appeals public inquiries pending: 0
Enforcement appeal hearings pending 2 (Little Covert, 443/445 Reading Road)

Report Author: Marcia Head

140

